## ALJ/JMO/JMH/sk6/jt2 **PROPOSED DECISION** Agenda ID #12979 (Rev. 1) Ratesetting 6/12/2014 Item #61 Decision <u>PROPOSED DECISION OF ALJS MCKINNEY AND HALLIGAN</u> (Mailed 5/9/14)

#### BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Order Instituting Rulemaking on the Commission's Own Motion to Conduct a Comprehensive Examination of Investor Owned Electric Utilities' Residential Rate Structures, the Transition to Time Varying and Dynamic Rates, and Other Statutory Obligations.

Rulemaking 12-06-013 (Filed June 21, 2012)

(See Attachment F for List of Appearances)

DECISION ON PHASE 2 RATE CHANGE PROPOSAL SETTLEMENT AGREEMENTS OF PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY, SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY, AND SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY FOR SUMMER 2014 RATE REFORM

# Table of Contents

## Title

DEC	CISION ON PHASE 2 RATE CHANGE PROPOSAL SETTLEMENT					
AG	REEMENTS OF PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY, SOUTHERN					
CAI	LIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY, AND SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC					
COI	MPANY FOR SUMMER 2014 RATE REFORM	1				
1.	Summary2					
2. Procedural History						
	2.1. The Order Instituting Rulemaking (OIR)	2				
	2.2. Phase 2					
	2.3. Coordination with other Proceedings	9				
	2.4. Overview of Settlement Agreements	.10				
3.	Framework for Resolving Rate Design Proposals and Settlements	.10				
	3.1. Legal Review for Rate Design Proposals	.11				
	3.1.1. Statutory Law					
	3.1.2. The Rate Design Principles					
	3.2. Legal Standard for Settlement Agreements					
4.	California Climate Credit					
	4.1. The California Cap-and-Trade Program and the CARE Program					
	4.2. Discussion					
	4.3. Consideration of Climate Credit when Evaluating Bill Impacts					
5.	PG&E Settlement					
	5.1. Specific Elements of Settlement Agreement					
	5.1.1. CARE Rates					
	5.1.2. Non-CARE Rates					
	5.1.3. Baseline Quantities					
	5.1.4. FERA and Medical Baseline Programs					
	5.2. Party Positions					
6.	SCE Settlement					
	6.1. Specific Elements of Settlement Agreement					
	6.1.1. CARE Rates					
	6.1.2. Non-CARE Rates	.32				
	6.1.3. Baseline Percentage					
	6.1.4. FERA and Medical Baseline	.33				
	6.2. Party Positions					
7.	SDG&E Settlement					
	7.1. Specific Elements of Settlement Agreement	.36				

# Table of Contents (Cont.)

# Title

## Page

		7.1.1. CARE Rates	
		7.1.2. Non-CARE Rates	
		7.1.3. Baseline Percentage	
		7.1.4. FERA and Medical Baseline	
	7.2.	Party Positions	
		Discussion	
		7.3.1. Article 12	
		7.3.2. Are Settlement Agreements Reasonable in Light of the	
		Whole Record?	
		7.3.3. Are Settlement Agreements Consistent with the Law?	
		7.3.3.1. Applicable Laws	
		7.3.4. Rate Design Principles	
		7.3.5. Affordability Requirements	
		7.3.5.1. Overview	
		7.3.5.2. Affordability of Changed Rates	
		7.3.5.3. Sufficiency of Evidence on Affordability	
		7.3.6. Compliance with Affordability Requirements	
		7.3.6.1. Rates Must be Considered in Context	
		7.3.7. Modeling	
	7.4.	Are Settlement Agreements in the Public Interest?	
		Settlement Agreements Meet Article 12 Requirements	
		Tier 1 Compliance Advice Letters	
8.		ety Considerations	
9.		nments on Proposed Decision	
10.		ignment of Proceeding	
Fine		of Fact	
		ions of Law	
ORI	DER		61
	.1	$\mathbf{D} = \mathbf{D} + $	

Attachment A	PG&E Settlement
Attachment B	SCE Settlement
Attachment C	SDG&E Settlement
Attachment D	Residential Rate Changes
Attachment E	Comparison of CARE Rates
Attachment F	Service List

#### DECISION ON PHASE 2 RATE CHANGE PROPOSAL SETTLEMENT AGREEMENTS OF PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY, SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY, AND SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY FOR SUMMER 2014 RATE REFORM

#### 1. Summary

This decision approves summer 2014 residential rate reform for Pacific Gas and Electric Company, Southern California Edison Company, and San Diego Gas & Electric Company.

## 2. Procedural History

Although this decision evaluates only summer rate change proposals for 2014 as permitted under Assembly Bill (AB) 327 (Perea, Ch. 611, Stats. 2013), the procedural history of this proceeding dates back almost two years. During that time, the parties have worked to develop rate design proposals, standards for evaluating rates, and bill impact calculators for estimating rate changes.

## 2.1. The Order Instituting Rulemaking (OIR)

The California Public Utilities Commission (Commission) initiated this OIR, "to examine current residential electric rate design, including the tier structure in effect for residential customers, the state of time variant and dynamic pricing, potential pathways from tiers to time variant and dynamic pricing, and preferable residential rate design to be implemented when statutory restrictions are lifted."<sup>1</sup> At that time, the Commission was, and continues to be, interested in exploring improved residential rate design structures in order to ensure that rates are both equitable and affordable while meeting the Commission's rate and policy objectives for the residential sector. (OIR at 1.) Currently, residential

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> OIR at 1.

electricity rates have an "inclining block" structure consisting of multiple tiers based on usage. By statute, Tier 1 is equal to the "baseline quantity" which is defined as 50% to 60% of average residential consumption of electricity. (California Public Utilities Code Section 739.)<sup>2</sup> As a customer's energy usage increases into higher tiers, the price paid for that energy also increases. This increase is made without regard to the cost to provide the increased amount of electricity.

For over a decade, statutory restrictions prevented the utilities from implementing rates that give residential customers an accurate price signal as to the costs of their electricity service. AB 1X (Keeley, Ch. 4, Stats. 2001), enacted in 2001 in response to the energy crisis of 2000-2001, suspended direct access and capped residential rates for usage up to 130% of baseline quantities (Tiers 1 and 2) at the levels in effect on February 1, 2001. As a result of the AB 1X restrictions, the rates that apply to usage in Tiers 1 and 2 did not increase until the end of the decade.<sup>3</sup> As a result, higher usage customers have experienced large rate increases that do not reflect cost of service. Thus, by 2009 residential tiered rates did not comport with the Commission's general policies to design rates consistent with cost to serve.

In 2009, Senate Bill (SB) 695 (Kehoe, Ch. 337, Stats. 2009) was enacted to allow some increases in Tier 1 and Tier 2 rates, and California Alternate Rates for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> All subsequent Section references are to the California Public Utilities Code unless otherwise specified.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Senate Bill 1 (Murray, Ch. 132, Stats. 2006), which established the California Solar Initiative program, is the only exception. SB 1 specifically allowed costs to be allocated to non-California Alternate Rates for Energy (CARE) residential customers' Tier 1 and Tier 2 usage. (Section 2851(d)(2).)

Energy (CARE) rates. Specifically, SB 695 allowed Tier 1 and Tier 2 rates to be increased annually by the cost of living plus 1%, and CARE rates up to 130% of baseline to be increased annually by the increase of benefits provided under the California Work Opportunity and Responsibility to Kids (CalWORKs) program. CARE rate increases were capped at 3% and non-CARE rate increases were capped at 5%. Higher tiers were set residually to recover the residential revenue requirement.

Following enactment of SB 695, residential rates in Tiers 1 and 2 were increased, but because the Legislature suspended the CalWORKS index, no increases to CARE Tier 1 and Tier 2 rates were made until January 2014. Despite these changes, residential rates still are not consistent with the Commission's cost to serve objective and these rates impede the Commission's ability to implement many other policy objectives.

On November 26, 2012, the assigned Commissioner issued the original Scoping Memo and Ruling. Over the next ten months, a variety of parties actively participated in the proceeding to examine residential rate structures. Those parties included: California Large Energy Consumers Association (CLECA); Center for Accessible Technology (CforAT) and The Greenlining Institute (Greenlining); Consumer Federation of California (CFC), Distributed Energy Consumer Advocates (DECA); Office of Ratepayer Advocates (ORA);<sup>4</sup> Environmental Defense Fund; Interstate Renewable Energy Council, Inc. (IREC); Energy Producers and Users Coalition, Natural Resources Defense Council (NRDC); Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E); San Diego Gas & Electric

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Office of Ratepayer Advocates was formerly known as the Division of Ratepayer Advocates (DRA). *See* Stats. 2013, Ch. 356, § 42.

Company (SDG&E); San Diego Consumers' Action Network (SDCAN); Sierra Club; Silicon Valley Leadership Group, Solar Energy Industries Association; The Vote Solar Initiative (Vote Solar); Utility Consumers' Action Network (UCAN), Southern California Edison Company (SCE); and The Utility Reform Network (TURN). PG&E, SDG&E and SCE are referred to collectively herein as the investor-owned utilities (IOUs).

As part of the proceeding, the utilities each developed a "Rate Impact Calculator" designed to help parties understand the impact of different rate designs. The calculators were developed over a period of several months with the input of all interested parties. Although the final calculators do not provide all of the modeling abilities that the parties sought, the calculators represent a useful tool for comparing rate structures that has been used and cited by various parties. During the same period, the parties worked with the utilities to develop a customer survey to explore how well residential customers understand their rates. The bill impact calculators and the customer survey were moved into the evidentiary record pursuant to a later ruling. (*See*, Amended Scoping Memo and Ruling of Assigned Commissioner, dated January 6, 2014.)

On October 7, 2013, AB 327 was signed into law. AB 327 lifts many of the restrictions on residential rate design. With its passage, the utilities can now propose residential rates that are more reflective of cost, in keeping with the Commission's principle that rates should be based on cost-causation. AB 327 also contains limits designed to protect certain classes of vulnerable customers.

AB 327 makes specific changes to residential rate design, and allows additional changes going forward. For purposes of today's decision, the relevant provisions of AB 327 are (1) setting the CARE effective discount rate between 30% and 35%, and (2) allowing an increase in rates for Tiers 1 and 2.

- 5 -

#### 2.2. Phase 2

In light of the new rate structures permitted by AB 327, on October 25, 2013, the assigned Commissioner issued a ruling (October 2013 ACR) opening Phase 2 of this proceeding and inviting utilities to submit interim rate change proposals for summer 2014.

The purpose of Phase 2 is to allow some interim changes to be made to stabilize and rebalance tiered rates while longer-term rate design is evaluated in Phase 1. In order to ensure that any interim rate proposals would be modest enough to be sufficiently evaluated over the next six months, the October 2013 ACR instructed utilities that all changes must be consistent with the statutory requirements that changes be made through a reasonable phase-in schedule relative to rates in effect prior to January 1, 2014, that differentials between tiers should be gradual, that rates not unreasonably impair incentives for conservation and energy efficiency and that rates not overburden low income customers. (Sections 739.9(b); 739(d)(1); 739(e).) In addition, if changes to CARE rates are necessary to reduce the effective discount to 35%, the effective discount must not be reduced by more than a reasonable percentage each year. (Section 739.1(c)(2).)

The IOUs submitted their Phase 2 Proposals on November 22, 2013. A Phase 2 prehearing conference (PHC) was held on December 5, 2013. Parties filed protests to the Phase 2 Proposals on December 23, 2014 and the IOUs filed their replies on January 3, 2014.

On January 6, 2014, the assigned Commissioner issued the Amended Scoping Memo and Ruling (January 2014 Scoping Memo). The January 2014 Scoping Memo re-categorized Phase 1 as ratesetting, rather than quasi-legislative. The January 2014 Scoping Memo also presented the rate design proposal of Energy Division (Staff Proposal). The Staff Proposal was based on

- 6 -

review of rate design proposals and other documents filed by parties during the course of this proceeding, the bill impact calculators provided by the IOUs, and additional research.<sup>5</sup> Importantly, the Staff Proposal demonstrates the considerable effort and thought that parties put into this proceeding prior to passage of AB 327. Although the Staff Proposal is part of the record, it was not subject to any type of cross-examination and serves only as a reference tool. The Staff Proposal should not be considered evidence which can be relied on for the truth of the statements therein.

At a Phase 2 PHC on January 8, 2014, the IOUs were instructed to simplify their Phase 2 Rate Change Proposals so that the proposals could be adequately reviewed and analyzed prior to summer 2014.

A Second Amended Scoping Memo and Ruling was issued on January 24, 2014 (January 24, 2014 Scoping Memo) and set the procedural schedule, including evidentiary hearings, for Phase 2. The January 24, 2014 Scoping Memo reiterated the instructions for the IOUs to simplify their Phase 2 Proposals:

> The simplified rate change proposals that are to be submitted by the IOUs should maintain the existing four-tiered structure and should not entail any major adjustments to California Alternative Rates for Energy (CARE), Family Electric Rate Assistance Program (FERA) or medical baseline programs. Instead, changes should be limited to increases in the lower tiers commensurate with projected increases in the overall revenue requirement allocated to the residential class, plus no more than a few percentage points, if necessary, to keep the upper tiers within a range that will avoid

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Parties filed proposed corrections to the Staff Proposal in January 2014. A revised Staff Proposal incorporating those corrections is expected to be issued in May 2014.

the potential for significant bill volatility and rate shock in the summer. If the resulting CARE effective discount would be greater than 35%, the utility should propose an adjustment that would put CARE rates on a glide path to 35%. The adjustment should avoid rate shock for CARE customers.

As directed by the January 24, 2014 Scoping Memo, the IOUs filed their

simplified Phase 2 Proposals on January 28, 2014. Over the next few weeks, the

IOUs worked with other parties to arrive at settlements.

- On March 4, 2014, SCE, ORA, TURN, Coalition of California Utility Employees (CCUE), Sierra Club and NRDC filed a Joint Motion for Adoption of Settlement Agreement for Phase 2 Simplified Summer 2014 Residential Rate Design Changes for SCE.
- On March 5, 2014, PG&E, ORA, and TURN filed a Joint Motion to Adopt Settlement for PG&E.
- On March 28, 2014, SDG&E, ORA, TURN, UCAN, SDCAN, and CCUE filed a Joint Motion for Adoption of Settlement Agreement for Phase 2 Interim Residential Rate Design Changes for SDG&E.

These motions were made during the same period of time that written testimony and briefs were filed and evidentiary hearings were held.<sup>6</sup> No parties filed opposition to the settlements. However, CforAT/Greenlining objected to all three settlements in their Opening Brief on the grounds that the affordability

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Opening Testimony was due March 5, 2014 (the same day that the PG&E Settlement was filed); Rebuttal Testimony was due March 12, 2014. Protests on the SCE and PG&E Settlement were due on March 14, 2014, but none were filed. Evidentiary Hearings were held on March 25, 2014. The term sheet for the SDG&E settlement was presented at Evidentiary Hearings, but the actual motion was filed afterwards, with a request for a shortened protest period such that protests were due the same day as Opening Briefs (April 7, 2014).

of simplified Phase 2 Proposals, as modified by the settlements, had not been sufficiently examined in this proceeding.

The IOUs were asked to include specific data in their testimony, including comparative rate impacts assuming (a) 50% and (b) 100% of pending revenue requirements are approved. This decision does not change any of the IOUs approved revenue requirements. For purposes of this decision, we have presented the rates and bill impacts that would result if 100% of pending revenue requests are granted.

On April 7, 2014, parties filed four opening briefs addressing Phase 2 Proposals for summer rate reform: (1) CforAT and Greenlining Phase 2 Brief (CforAT/Greenlining Opening Brief), (2) Joint Phase 2 Opening Brief of SCE, ORA, TURN and CCUE (Joint SCE Settlement Opening Brief), (3) Opening Brief of PG&E, ORA, TURN and CCUE (Joint PG&E Settlement Opening Brief, and (4) Opening Brief of SDG&E, ORA, TURN, UCAN, SDCAN, and CCUE (Joint SDG&E Settlement Opening Brief).

Reply briefs were filed on April 16, 2014 by SCE, TURN, PG&E, ORA, CforAT/Greenlining, SDG&E and UCAN.

In addition, as discussed below, parties were directed to file legal briefs on whether the California Climate Credit (Climate Credit) should be included in the calculation of the CARE effective discount rate.

#### 2.3. Coordination with other Proceedings

Elements of the IOUs' rate designs are also addressed in other Commission proceedings. On March 10, 2014, the assigned Administrative Law Judges (ALJs) issued a ruling on the Rate Design Element Inventory (Rate Design Element Inventory Ruling) to clarify which rate design elements would be addressed in this proceeding and which would continue to be addressed in other Commission proceedings. ORA, SCE, SDG&E, TURN and UCAN filed comments on the Rate Design Element Inventory Ruling, and parties discussed the rate design elements included in the inventory at the March 14, 2014 PHC for Phase 1.

On April 15, 2014, the Third Amended Scoping Memo issued and included a revised Rate Design Element Matrix that applies to both Phase 1 and Phase 2.

#### 2.4. Overview of Settlement Agreements

The simplified Phase 2 Proposals, as amended by the settlement agreements (the Phase 2 Settlement Rates), would (1) retain the current multi-tier rate structure, (2) retain current CARE discounts, or begin the gradual glide path toward the CARE effective discount maximum of 35%, and (3) not institute new fixed customer charges.

The Phase 2 Settlement Rates will begin to shift a portion of costs to the lower tiers and prevent the disparity between lower and upper tiers from getting wider over the coming year. The settlements also provide a methodology to address any revenue requirement increases or decreases that arise between the implementation of Phase 2 Settlement Rates and a Phase 1 long term rate decision. Long term rate proposals have been made in Phase 1 of this proceeding and will be examined over the remainder of this year.

## 3. Framework for Resolving Rate Design Proposals and Settlements

We evaluate the proposed settlements implementing new rates for summer 2014 in accordance with the Commission's standard of review for settlement agreements. As part of that review, we must consider whether the proposed rates meet applicable statutory requirements and the rate design principles developed in this proceeding.

# 3.1. Legal Review for Rate Design Proposals3.1.1. Statutory Law

Rate designs must comply with a wide variety of laws designed to protect consumers, ensure reliability of the electricity grid, promote clean energy, and ensure safety. The Phase 2 Settlement Rates must comply with long-standing laws and with the changes to law made by AB 327. The following statutes are of particular relevance in evaluating the Phase 2 Settlement Rates.

- Section 451 requires that rates be "just and reasonable."
- Section 382(b), as amended by AB 327, states that "electricity is a basic necessity" and that "all residents of the state should be able to afford essential electricity." Section 382(b) directs the Commission to ensure that low-income ratepayers are not "jeopardized or overburdened by monthly energy expenditures."
- Section 739 defines baseline quantity and, in Section 739(d)(1), requires that the Commission "establish an appropriate gradual differential between the rates for the respective blocks of usage."
- Section 739.1, which was amended by AB 327, addresses the CARE program. Section 739.1(c) requires the average effective CARE discount to be between 30-35% "of the revenues that would have been produced for the same billed usage by non-CARE customers."
- Section 739.9, which, pursuant to AB 327, replaced the prior Section 739.9, requires that any increases to electrical rates, including reductions in the CARE effective discount, "be reasonable and subject to a reasonable phase-in schedule relative to the rates and charges in effect prior to January 2014."

## 3.1.2. The Rate Design Principles

Rate design proposals must also adhere to the Rate Design Principles developed in this proceeding to evaluate residential rate design options.

The initial OIR set forth a preliminary list of principles for optimal rate design. (OIR at 20-21.) The OIR list echoed Commission decisions, such as Decision (D.) 08-07-045, and was similar to the "Bonbright principles."<sup>7</sup> After extensive input from the parties, including a workshop and written comments, we developed the following list of ten optimal Rate Design Principles for use in this proceeding. (Scoping Memo at 5-7.)

- 1. Low-income and medical baseline customers should have access to enough electricity to ensure basic needs (such as health and comfort) are met at an affordable cost;
- 2. Rates should be based on marginal cost;
- 3. Rates should be based on cost-causation principles;
- 4. Rates should encourage conservation and energy efficiency;
- 5. Rates should encourage reduction of both coincident and non-coincident peak demand;
- 6. Rates should be stable and understandable and provide customer choice;
- 7. Rates should generally avoid cross-subsidies, unless the cross-subsidies appropriately support explicit state policy goals;
- 8. Incentives should be explicit and transparent;
- 9. Rates should encourage economically efficient decision-making;
- 10. Transitions to new rate structures should emphasize customer education and outreach that enhances customer understanding and acceptance of new rates, and minimizes

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The "Bonbright Principles" include rate attributes such as fair apportionment of costs among customers, encouragement of efficient use of energy, rate stability, and ability to meet revenue requirement under the fair return standard. *See*, Bonbright, James C., *Principles of Public Utility Rates*, Columbia University Press, New York NY, 1961.

and appropriately considers the bill impacts associated with such transitions.

Certain Rate Design Principles are of particular relevance to Phase 2 of the proceeding.

First, a significant portion of the principles relate to setting rates to reflect cost of service (Principles 2, 3, 7, 8, and 9). These principles weigh in favor of setting rates based on cost of service so that consumers have accurate price-signals. This promotes economically efficient decisions. During the past decade, residential rate design has not allocated costs to residential ratepayers in a manner that reflects the individual ratepayer's impact on the cost of electricity. Instead, rates for certain ratepayers (lower usage ratepayers) have been artificially kept low, and the remaining ratepayers have made up the difference. As a result, as of February 2014, residential rates for lowest and highest tiers were as follows:

Utility/Date	Tier 1 (per kWh)	Tier 4 (per kWh)	Residential Average Rate (per kWh)
SCE	13.3 cents	30.4 cents	17.5 cents
SDG&E	15.4 cents	36.9 cents	21.1 cents
PG&E	13.2 cents	36.4 cents	17.5 cents

Neither consumer pays close to the actual average residential per kilowatt hour (kWh) rate. AB 327 allows us for the first time in over a decade to align customer rates with cost of service.

Because the current tiered electricity rates increase sharply with increased usage, and because residential customers typically do not know at what point during the month their usage will reach a higher tier threshold, customers can experience unexpected large increases in monthly bills for a small increase in usage. (Exhibit PGE-04 at 1-8 and at 1-4 through 1-10.) This is particularly true during high-use periods such as summer months. (*Id.*)

All three IOUs are facing rate increases for summer 2014. Unless changes are made to the residential rate structure, as now permitted by AB 327, those increases will be borne entirely by upper-tier customers. (*See*, e.g., Exhibit SCE-03 at 13.) Even under currently effective rates, in SCE's service territory, higher use customers, both CARE and non-CARE, are the most likely to ask for bill payment assistance or extensions. (Exhibit SCE-03 at 32-35.) Moreover, higher usage customers have, on average, higher energy burdens than lower usage customers. (Exhibit SCE-05 at 29.)

Affordable electricity and state low-income assistance programs are addressed in two of the principles (Principles 1, 7). Although rates should reflect cost, they should also keep the necessary amount of electricity affordable. In addition, state law requires certain specific subsidies for qualifying customers. Those subsidy programs are CARE, FERA, and medical baseline. The CARE effective discount was originally set at approximately 15% and was increased by approximately 5% following the 2000-2001 energy crisis, but over time, the actual effective discount has grown to as high as 48.4%.<sup>8</sup> AB 327 sets clear direction for determining the right range of effective discount (30-35%). AB 327 also requires that any changes in CARE rates should be phased-in over a reasonable period of time.

Three of the principles relate to conservation of electricity (Principles 4, 5, and 7). Although rates should encourage conservation and energy efficiency (Principle 4), they should also minimize cross-subsidies and send accurate price signals so that consumers can make economically efficient decisions. AB 327

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Exhibit PG&E -4, at 1-6 to 1-7 and Exhibit PG&E-8.

allows the Commission to consider reducing the number of tiers, but requires that the differentials between tiers be gradual. (Section 739(d)(1).) The Phase 2 Settlement Rates would retain the same number of tiers, but would permit some flattening of the differentials. The historic argument for tiers based on usage is that consumers with high usage will be motivated to conserve energy and install energy efficiency measures, in order to bring their usage down to the lower tier levels. In Phase 1 of this proceeding, where reduction in the number of tiers and the differential between tiers is under consideration, we will consider whether flattening of tiers would unreasonably discourage conservation and energy efficiency.

#### 3.2. Legal Standard for Settlement Agreements

The Commission has long favored the settlement of disputes. However, pursuant to Rule 12.1(d) of the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure,<sup>9</sup> the Commission will not approve a settlement, whether contest or uncontested, unless it is found to be reasonable in light of the whole record, consistent with law and in the public interest. Although the proposed settlements were not protested, and only CforAT/Greenlining has argued against their adoption, a settlement by a subset of parties will be subject to more scrutiny than an all-party settlement agreement.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Unless otherwise indicated, subsequent rule references are to the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure.

#### 4. California Climate Credit

#### 4.1. The California Cap-and-Trade Program and the CARE Program

The California Climate Credit (Climate Credit) is part of the State's recently implemented Cap-and-Trade program for regulating greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions pursuant to the Global Warming Solutions Act of 2006 (AB 32 (Nunez, Ch. 488, Stats. 2006)). The program requires certain large sources of GHG emissions (including electricity generation facilities) to acquire GHG allowances or offsets for every metric ton of GHG they emit. As part of the program, the state grants electric utilities a direct allocation of allowances for the purpose of protecting electricity customers and advancing AB 32 objectives. (D.12-12-033, Finding of Fact 12.) The IOUs receive this allowance allocation on behalf of customers, and the IOUs may not use these allowances for their own compliance with the Cap-and-Trade program. (D.12-12-033, Findings of Fact 13 and 14.) Allowances are tradable so the program, administered by the California Air Resources Board (ARB), creates a market for GHG allowances through which the market price of allowances is expected to closely reflect the marginal cost of GHG abatement. ARB holds allowance auctions four times each year.

The increased costs of electricity resulting from the Cap-and-Trade program will ultimately be passed through to the end-users of electricity resulting in higher retail electricity costs. Businesses, in turn, may pass their increased costs on to consumers.

California's Cap-and-Trade program requires that revenue from the sale of the allowances allocated to utilities be returned directly to certain classes of retail customers, including low-income residential customers, to protect these customers from cost increases they face due to the program. (Section 748.5(a); D.12-33-033.) These increased costs could result from either increased electricity

rates or changes in the broader economy. Rulemaking 11-03-012 is examining the process for this revenue return and has determined that, in accordance with law, part of the revenue should be returned to residential customers on an equal per-household basis in the form of the Climate Credit. Parties disagree on how to treat the Climate Credit when calculating the CARE effective discount and evaluating bill impacts of rate change proposals.

The GHG allowance revenues have a different source and purpose than revenues collected from customers to pay for electricity charges. Pursuant to law, revenues from sale of the GHG allowances allocated to the utilities pass through the hands of the utilities, but are at all times part of a separate state program. (*See*, Section 748.5 and 17 Cal. Code of Regulations § 95800.) The revenues from ratepayers, referred to in the CARE statute, are not the same type of revenues as the GHG allowance revenues that ARB distributes to the utilities after its quarterly allowance auctions and that the utilities then return to the ratepayers.

The CARE program is another state-mandated program. Its goal is to make sure that a minimum amount of energy is available to low income customers at an affordable price. Prior to AB 327, CARE rates were set at least 20% below regular residential rates, and CARE customers were also exempt from paying certain types of charges.<sup>10</sup> The result is that CARE customers currently

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> "Tier 1, tier 2, and tier 3 CARE rates shall not exceed 80 percent of the corresponding tier 1, tier 2, and tier 3 rates charged to residential customers not participating in the CARE program, excluding any Department of Water Resources bond charge . . .the CARE surcharge portion of the public goods charge, any charge imposed pursuant to the California Solar Initiative, and any charge imposed to fund other any other program that exempts CARE participants from paying the charge." (Section 739.1(b)(4) prior to AB 327.) The CARE discount was originally set at approximately 15%.

receive effective discounts well in excess of 20%. AB 327 modified the program to require the effective CARE discount to be in the range of 30-35%. The statute now reads as follows:

The average effective CARE discount shall not be less than 30 percent or more than 35 percent <u>of the revenues</u> <u>that would have been produced</u> for the same billed usage by non-CARE customers. The average effective discount determined by the commission <u>shall reflect</u> <u>any charges not paid by CARE customers</u>, including payments for the California Solar Initiative, payments for the self-generation incentive program made pursuant to Section 379.6, payment of the separate rate component to fund the CARE program pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 381, payment made to the Department of Water Resources pursuant to Division 27 (commencing with Section 80000) of the Water Code, and any discount in a fixed charge. (Section 739.1(c)(1). (Emphasis added).)

## 4.2. Discussion

When construing a statute, the Commission must first look to the words and give them their usual and ordinary meaning. When more than one statutory construction is possible, the Commission should favor the construction that leads to the more reasonable result. (D.12-12-033 at 191-192, Conclusion of Law 9.)

Several parties argue that this issue is not ripe for resolution because there are settlement agreements for each of the Phase 2 Proposals, and because the Phase 2 Settlement Rates are within (or above) the statutory range for the CARE effective discount regardless of whether the Climate Credit is considered. However, as CforAT/Greenlining point out, the issue is within the scope of evaluating the rate proposals, and was initially raised by the IOUs themselves

when they provided their CARE effective discount and bill impact analyses.<sup>11</sup> As part of our required review of the settlements, we must find that they comply with the law before we approve them. Therefore, we consider treatment of the Climate Credit as part of this decision.

As CforAT/Greenlining point out, the question of whether to include the Climate Credit in the calculation of the discount is a legal question not a factual one. Detailed factual review is not necessary, and the legal briefs submitted provide sufficient basis for determining whether to include the Climate Credit. To ensure that parties understood that this issue is within the scope of Phase 2, parties were specifically invited to address the following issue in their briefs:

Should the CALIFORNIA CLIMATE CREDIT be included in the calculation of the effective discount percentage for CARE rates when determining if the effective discount is within the statutory range of 30-35%? [Please cite legal authority supporting your position.] (E-mail Ruling Requiring Additional Information, dated March 26, 2014.)

All three IOUs argue that the Climate Credit should be included as a bill reduction when calculating the CARE effective discount. CforAT/Greenlining, ORA, TURN, and UCAN all argue that the Climate Credit should not be included in the CARE effective discount.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> For example, in its bill impact analysis, SCE applied a bill credit based on the GHG climate dividend, reasoning that "The GHG climate dividend is a very real bill reduction to residential customers. In fact, many low-usage customers will see their entire April and October bills negated by the climate dividend." (SCE-3 at 17, fn. 27.) In its January 2014 simplified Phase 2 Proposal, SCE estimated that the inclusion of the Climate Credit resulted in approximately 1% increase to the current effective CARE discount of 31%, resulting in an effective CARE discount of about 32%. (Exhibit SCE-3 at 39.)

Although Section 739.1(c)(1) does not specifically address whether the Climate Credit should or should not be included in the calculation of the CARE effective discount, when the Section 739.1(c)(1) is read in concert with the statutes governing the GHG reduction program (AB 32; Section 748.5), it is clear that the Climate Credit must not be included in the calculation of the CARE effective discount.

The IOUs argue that the Climate Credit is a "charge" not paid by CARE customers and that it is a "revenue that would have been produced" for the same usage by non-CARE customers. As SCE describes it, "the discount is to be calculated by comparing *revenues* from CARE customers with *revenues* from non-CARE customers for the same billed usage." (SCE Phase 2 Opening Brief Regarding the Impact of the California Climate Credit on the Average Effective CARE Discount at 4.) As explained above, the language of the statute and D.12-12-033 implementing the statute make it clear that the Climate Credit is not an unpaid charge; it is compensation to the ratepayer for the increased cost of electricity and goods and services resulting from Cap-and-Trade program compliance, and it has no relation to a customer's billed electricity usage.

In addition, Section 739.1(c)(1) provides examples of "charges not paid by CARE customers" that should be reflected in calculation of the effective discount. The examples include discounts on fixed charges as well as surcharges for specific programs such as the California Solar Initiative that are excluded from CARE customer bills. The revenue collected from these charges is put toward the IOU's approved revenue requirement. In contrast, the Climate Credit is not a charge and the funds for the Climate Credit are at all times separate from the IOU's revenue requirement.

Several parties point out that because the Climate Credit is made on a per-household basis, rather than volumetric basis, the Climate Credit will benefit ratepayers in the lower tiers disproportionately and that many lower tier customers are also low-income. The IOUs argue that this supports treating the Climate Credit as a reduction in CARE customer revenue. The language of D.12-12-033, however, better supports the argument of parties, such as CforAT/Greenlining, that the Climate Credit is intended to benefit lower-income customers to a greater degree because a per-household return achieves the policy objective of reversing expected impacts on low-income households. (D.12-12-033 at 110, reasoning that low-income customers are likely to be disproportionately burdened by the inclusion of the GHG compliance costs in consumer goods and services.) If the Climate Credit returned to low-income customers was counted in the amount of "charges" not collected from low-income customers for purposes of calculating the CARE effective discount, then this policy objective regarding GHG compliance costs would not be achieved.

Finally, D.12-12-033 and many other filings and documents have stressed the importance of ensuring that ratepayers understand the source of the Climate Credit. Ratepayers should not confuse the return of GHG allowance revenues, including the Climate Credit, as a credit from the IOUs. Indeed, as D.12-12-033 repeatedly points out, the decision to make the return through an on-bill Climate Credit was made simply to reduce administration costs. D.12-12-033 expressly stated that the on-bill Climate Credit should not be thought of as a reduction in the individual customer's electricity bill. (D.12-12-033 at 120, discussing concerns that customers may perceive the GHG allowance return as a rate reduction if it is returned as an on-bill credit.)

# 4.3. Consideration of Climate Credit when Evaluating Bill Impacts

Determination of whether to include the Climate Credit when considering bill impacts of proposed rate changes is not a function of statutory interpretation. Rather, it is a reasonableness inquiry into whether the proposed rates will lead to rate shock or rates that are otherwise not "reasonable and just." The analysis above sets forth detailed reasons why the Climate Credit should not be counted as part of the CARE effective discount. Many of those reasons also support not including the Climate Credit in the analysis of bill impacts generally. For example, the purpose of the Climate Credit return has specific policy objectives tied to the GHG emission reduction program implemented by AB 32. Therefore, for purposes of our analysis of rate changes in this proceeding, including both Phase 2 and Phase 1, we will not consider bill impact calculations that include the Climate Credit. From the start of analysis of the bill impacts of Phase 2, we have required IOUs to provide bill impact analyses that exclude the Climate Credit. Up until now, we have also allowed the IOUs to present bill impact analyses that include the Climate Credit. Because we are not considering the Climate Credit in our bill impact analysis, and because having this second set of bill impact calculations is confusing to parties and ratepayers, we direct the IOUs to exclude the Climate Credit in bill impact calculations in this proceeding going forward.

#### 5. PG&E Settlement

On March 5, 2014, PG&E, ORA, and TURN filed a Joint Motion to Adopt Settlement for PG&E (PG&E Settlement). A copy of the PG&E Settlement is attached as Attachment A, and we provide a general summary of the terms below. According to the settling parties, the PG&E Settlement is designed to

- 22 -

narrow the differential between the highest and lowest tier rates while maintaining the existing four-tier rate structure. The PG&E Settlement resolves three primary contested issues between the settling parties.

First, it settles the issue of baseline quantities for PG&E at 52.5% of the historical usage in each climate zone. PG&E has a proposal in Application (A.) 12-02-020, its 2012 Rate Design Window proceeding, to reduce the baseline quantities from 55% of historical usage, to 50%. The baseline quantity reflects the amount in Tier 1. In their testimony, both TURN and ORA proposed leaving the baseline percentages at 55% for summer 2014. Unable to set rates for the summer without an agreement on the baseline quantity, the settling parties agreed to split the difference and set the baseline quantities at the mid-point between the two proposals, or 52.5%.

Second, the PG&E Settlement resolves summer 2014 rates. PG&E's initial proposal was to increase its Tier 1 and Tier 2 rates while decreasing the Tier 3 and Tier 4 rates, in order to narrow the large differential between the lower two tiers and the upper two tiers. While TURN and ORA supported the basic principle, they opposed PG&E's proposal to allocate all revenue requirement increases to the lower two tiers upon implementation of the summer rates. As a compromise, the settlement provides that PG&E's Tier 3 and Tier 4 non-CARE rates will also be subject to an increase under certain circumstances, and that, if the Tier 4 rates would exceed 35 cents per kWh under these circumstances, any revenue shortfall would be made up by increases in Tier 2, Tier 3, and Tier 4 rates on an equal cents per kWh basis. The PG&E Settlement exogenously sets CARE rates and lower tier non-CARE rates at levels that result in modest bill impacts for those customers. It then lets the non-CARE upper tier rates essentially float to collect the remaining revenue requirement. Compared to

PG&E's simplified Phase 2 Proposal, this would reduce the bill impacts on low-usage non-CARE customers.

Third, the PG&E Settlement resolves the contested issue of how to adjust rates between summer 2014 and the effective date of a Phase 1 decision on long-term rate changes (the Settlement Period). The settling parties have agreed that, for each rate change during the Settlement Period, both increases and decreases will be shared across all non-CARE and CARE tier rates on an equal cents per kWh basis, with the further limitation that in the event the rates would increase by more than 1.5 cents per kWh as a result of a rate change, the increases to the non-CARE Tier 1 rate, the CARE Tier 1 rate and the CARE Tier 2 rate would be capped at 1.5 cents per kWh, and any revenue shortfall resulting from these caps would be collected on an equal cents per kWh basis from sales in-non-CARE Tiers 2, 3, and 4 and in CARE Tier 3. PG&E will also seek to consolidate authorized revenue requirement increases and decreases during the Settlement Period to the extent feasible. PG&E's simplified Phase 2 Proposal would have allocated each revenue requirement increase to all non-CARE and CARE rates in each tier on an equal cents per kWh basis, while allocating any revenue requirement decrease solely to non-CARE Tier 3 and 4 in order to continue reducing the tier differentials. The settlement approach has a less severe impact on the lower tiers.

The settling parties anticipate one or two rate changes between the Phase 2 decision and the Phase 1 decision, including the Powerex FERC refund settlement expected to be approved in 2014, the revenue requirement crediting of which PG&E shall seek to consolidate with the implementation of revenue requirement increases such as PG&E's 2014 General Rate Case (GRC) Phase 1 and Nuclear Decommissioning Trust revenue requirement changes.

- 24 -

A list of rate changes already implemented in 2014 or expected to be implemented before 2015, is found in Attachment D.

# 5.1. Specific Elements of Settlement Agreement 5.1.1. CARE Rates

The CARE Tier 1 rate will be 9.244 cents, the CARE Tier 2 rate will be 10.630 cents, and the CARE Tier 3 rate will be 15.081 cents. These rates are set exogenously and thus will not change regardless of the revenue requirement adopted. Any subsequent revenue requirements would be capped at 1.5 cents for CARE Tier 1 and Tier 2. The CARE Tier 3 rate is not capped.

The majority of CARE customers will see a monthly bill increase of less than \$5 under these rates compared to March 2014 rates. Assuming 100% of pending revenue requirement requests are adopted, 54% of CARE customers would experience an increase of less than \$5 per month, and 87% of CARE customers would experience an increase of less than \$10.

AB 327 requires that the CARE average effective discount be gradually reduced to reach the 30–35% statutory range. As of March 2014, the CARE average effective discount was 48.4%. Assuming 100% of pending revenue requirement requests are approved, the new effective discount will be 46.5%. (Exhibit PG&E-08.)

#### 5.1.2. Non-CARE Rates

PG&E's non-CARE Tier 1 rate will be 14.707 cents, as proposed in PG&E's simplified Phase 2 Proposal. PG&E's non-CARE Tier 2 rate will be 17.028 cents. PG&E's non-CARE Tier 3 and 4 rates will be set to collect the residual revenue requirement, such that the resulting difference between the Tier 3 and 4 rates is 6 cents. However, if the non-CARE Tier 4 rate resulting under the previous sentence exceeds 35 cents per kWh, then the rates will be adjusted as follows:

Starting with non-CARE rates at 17.028 cents, 29 cents, and 35 cents for Tiers 2, 3, and 4, respectively. Using these rates, plus the non-CARE Tier 1 rate of 14.707 cents, and the CARE rates described in Section 5.1.1 above, the non-CARE Tier 2, Tier 3, and Tier 4 rates will be increased on an equal cents per kWh basis to eliminate the revenue shortfall.

Assuming all pending revenue requirement requests are approved, the majority of customers would experience bill increases over March 2014 rates of less than \$10 per month. Specifically, 34% of non-CARE customers would experience bill increases of less than \$5 per month, and 99.9% of customers would experience bill increases of less than \$10 per month.

#### 5.1.3. Baseline Quantities

PG&E's baseline quantities will be based on 52.5% of historical average usage levels by climate zone until the Commission revises PG&E's baseline quantities in a future decision. The parties agree to mutually request that the issue of baseline quantities be removed from A.12-02-020.

For all-electric customers in winter, baseline quantities will be based on 62.5% of historical usage.

The baseline quantity values will be based upon the historical usage data by climate zone for the May 2008 through April 2012 period, as described in Appendix A to the PG&E Settlement.

#### 5.1.4. FERA and Medical Baseline Programs

The PG&E Settlement does not change the structure of the FERA program. Under the FERA program, residential customers meeting certain household income and family size criteria are charged the Tier 2 rates for energy usage in Tier 3. The settlement reduces the differential between Tiers 2 and 3, from the current 16 cents to about 11 cents, resulting in a decrease in the discount FERA customers receive on Tier 3 usage of approximately 10% (from an approximately 50% discount to an approximately 40% discount).<sup>12</sup>

The PG&E Settlement also does not change the structure of the medical baseline program. PG&E medical baseline customers receive two forms of discounts: (1) medical baseline customers receive an additional baseline allowance of at least 16.5 kWh per day (approximately 500 kWh per month)<sup>13</sup> and (2) medical baseline customers are charged Tier 3 rates for Tier 4 usage. Under the PG&E Settlement, the differential between Tier 3 and Tier 4 will increase from 4 cents to 6 cents. This means that medical baseline customers with Tier 4 usage will see a slightly higher discount (moving from 11% to 17%) for Tier 4 usage under the new rates.

## 5.2. Party Positions

Several parties responded in protest to PG&E's original November 22, 2014 rate change proposal. ORA expressed concern with bill impacts, rate structure, CARE discounts, and the treatment of revenue requirement increases. TURN's protest also expressed concern with Tier 1 rates, proposed changes to the FERA program, the proposed reduction of baseline quantities, and changes to the CARE discount. Protests were also filed by CforAT/Greenlining, Marin Clean Energy, The Alliance for Solar Choice (TASC), Vote Solar and Solar Energy Industries Association (SEIA), IREC, and NRDC and Sierra Club (jointly). CLECA filed a response that included a partial protest. Many of the arguments

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Reporter's Transcript at 52, line 27 – 53, line 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Some medical baseline customers qualify for additional allowance increments.

made in the protests became moot once PG&E filed its simplified Phase 2 Proposal.

PG&E notes that informal settlement discussion began after it served the original proposal and continued after PG&E served its January 28, 2014 simplified Phase 2 Proposal. The simplified Phase 2 Proposal addressed several of the concerns raised in the protests, and presented a simplified plan in conformance with the January 24, 2014 Scoping Memo. The only party to serve testimony opposing PG&E's January 28, 2014 simplified Phase 2 Proposal was CforAT.

PG&E's simplified Phase 2 Proposal would have set rates based on the assumption that PG&E's proposal to reduce baseline quantities from 55% to 50% of historical average usage levels by climate zone would be adopted in PG&E's pending 2012 Rate Design Window (A.12-02-020). ORA and TURN opposed this proposal and supported retaining the current baseline quantity of 55%. As a compromise, the settling parties agreed that baseline quantities used to design rates would be set at the mid-point between those positions, 52.5%.

PG&E had also proposed to apply all new revenue requirement changes to increase Tier 1 and Tier 2 rates while decreasing the Tier 3 and Tier 4 rates. ORA and TURN opposed the proposal.

PG&E proposed to allocate any authorized post-summer 2014 revenue requirement increases during the Settlement Period to all non-CARE and CARE rates in every tier on a cents per kWh basis, while allocating any revenue requirement decreases to Tiers 3 and 4. The settling parties compromised and agreed that both increases and decreases in authorized revenue requirement would be shared across all non-CARE and CARE tiers on an equal cents per kWh basis, with a cap on increases to CARE and non-CARE Tier 1 and CARE Tier 2 rates at 1.5 cents per kWh. Any revenue shortfalls from the cap would be collected on an equal cents per kWh basis from the remaining tiers.

CforAT/Greenlining's arguments regarding the sufficiency of the affordability analysis are addressed in the Discussion section below.

Illustrative rates are shown on Attachment E.

## 6. SCE Settlement

On March 4, 2014, SCE, ORA, TURN, CCUE, Sierra Club and NRDC filed a Joint Motion for Adoption of Settlement Agreement for Phase 2 Simplified Summer 2014 Residential Rate Design Changes for SCE (SCE Settlement). A copy of the SCE Settlement is attached as Attachment B, and we provide a general summary of the terms below.

At the time of implementation, the SCE Settlement will fix rates for non-CARE Tier 1 and Tier 2 at 14.85 cents per kWh and 19.28 cents per kWh respectively. From the effective date through the date of a Phase 1 decision or other decision that modifies or supplants the Settlement Agreement (the SCE Settlement Period), these rates would increase or decrease (with one exception)<sup>14</sup> by the residential class average rate (RAR)<sup>15</sup> percentage change when future revenue requirement changes are reflected in rates. The SCE Settlement sets the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Should the residential rate class revenue requirement decrease on January 1, 2015 relative to the residential rate class revenue requirement on December 21, 2014: (a) the then-current non-CARE Tier 1 and 2 rates will not change; and (b) the non-CARE Tiers 3 and 4 rates will be set residually to collect (along with revenues collected from CARE rates) the then-current authorized residential rate class revenue requirement such that the tier differential between Tiers 3 and 4 shall be at least 4 cents per kWh.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> The RAR is the average per kWh rate that would need to be collected from all residential customers for each kWh used in order to meet the portion of the system revenue requirement allocated to the residential customer class.

rates for non-CARE Tiers 3 and 4 residually with a 4 cents per kWh rate differential between Tiers 3 and 4, and requires these rates to increase or decrease by the RAR percentage during the SCE Settlement Period.

The SCE Settlement discounts CARE Tier 1 and 2 rates at 35% off the corresponding non-CARE rates, and sets the CARE Tier 3 rate residually such that the average effective CARE discount equals 32.5%.<sup>16</sup>

The SCE Settlement modifies the Residential Rate Design Settlement Agreement approved in D.13-03-031 by increasing the Tier 3 and Tier 4 rate differential (from 3 cents per kWh to 4 cents per kWh) as well as increasing volumetric rates for Tiers 1 and 2 for other than SB 695 rate changes.<sup>17</sup>

The SCE Settlement maintains the current level of Basic Charges for CARE and non-CARE customers, as well as the current FERA program terms and discount, and the current medical baseline allowance. It also preserves the four-tiered default non-CARE residential rate structure and tier definitions.

The settling parties seek Commission approval of the SCE Settlement no later than June 12, 2014, in order to implement the revised rates no later than July 12, 2014. SCE further requests that it be given discretion as to the actual date of implementation so that it can be coordinated with SCE's annual seasonal changes to residential rates scheduled for June 1, 2014. Implementing additional

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> The settling parties agreed to exclude the revenue effect of the return of the Climate Credit to residential customers in establishing the 32.5% average effective CARE discount.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Joint Motion of Southern California Edison Company, the Office Of Ratepayer Advocates, the Utility Reform Network, the Coalition Of California Utility Employees, the Sierra Club and the Natural Resources Defense Council for Adoption of Settlement Agreement for Phase 2 Simplified Summer 2014 Residential Rate Design Changes, March 4, 2014, at 11.

rate changes within 34 days of that date will result in triple pro-ration of customer bills, which SCE states could lead to customer confusion.<sup>18</sup> A list of rate changes already implemented in 2014 or expected to be implemented before 2015, is found in Attachment D.

# 6.1. Specific Elements of Settlement Agreement6.1.1. CARE Rates

The SCE Settlement sets CARE Tier 1 and Tier 2 electricity rates at 35% off the corresponding non-CARE rates, and sets the CARE Tier 3 rate residually such that the average effective CARE discount shall equal 32.5%. At initial implementation, the rates for CARE Tier 1 and Tier 2 customers would rise by 10% and 14%, respectively, for summer 2014.<sup>19</sup> CARE Tier 3 rates would increase by 5%.<sup>20</sup>

The majority of CARE customers will see a monthly bill increase from January 2014 rates of less than \$5 under these rates. Assuming 100% of pending revenue requirement requests are adopted, 60% of CARE customers would experience an increase of less than \$5 per month, and 87% of customers would experience an increase of less than \$10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> *Ibid.* at 13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Joint Motion of Southern California Edison Company (U 338-E), the Office Of Ratepayer Advocates, the Utility Reform Network, the Coalition Of California Utility Employees, the Sierra Club and the Natural Resources Defense Council for Adoption of Settlement Agreement for Phase 2 Simplified Summer 2014 Residential Rate Design Changes, March 4, 2014, at 10, Table IV-2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Id.

Based on the settlement rates, the average effective CARE discount will be 32.5%. This is the highest historical average effective discount for SCE's CARE customers.<sup>21</sup>

## 6.1.2. Non-CARE Rates

At initial implementation, the non-CARE Tier 1 rate would increase by 12% and would be fixed at 14.85 cents per kWh. Non-CARE Tier 2 rates would increase by 17% and would be fixed at 19.28 cents per kWh. Non-CARE Tiers 3 and 4 rates would be set residually to collect the then-current authorized residential rate class revenue requirement such that the differential between Tiers 3 and 4 shall be 4 cents per kWh. This results in an increase in non-CARE Tier 3 and Tier 4 rates of 2% and 5%, respectively, at initial implementation.

The majority of non-CARE customers will see a monthly bill increase of less than \$10 per month compared to January 2014 rates. Assuming 100% of pending revenue requirement requests are adopted, 24% of non-CARE customers will see an increase of less than \$5 per month and 68% of non-CARE customers will see an increase of less than \$10.

Compared to the January 2014 simplified Phase 2 Proposal, the SCE Settlement results in a lower increase for non-CARE Tier 1 usage (12% under the settlement compared to 17%).<sup>22</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Joint Phase 2 Opening Brief of Southern California Edison Company (U 338-E), the Office of Ratepayer Advocates, The Utility Reform Network, and the Coalition of California Utility Employees, at 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> The January 2014 simplified Phase 2 Proposal was based on a forecast RAR of 12%, but this forecast had been reduced to 8% at the time the SCE Settlement was filed. The 8% increase reflects an SCE system average rate increase consistent with the proposed decision issued in A.13-08-004 on March 25, 2014. The proposed decision was approved by the Commission on May 1, 2014. (D.14-05-003.)

## 6.1.3. Baseline Percentage

The SCE Settlement does not change the baseline percentage for Tier 1 usage currently set at 53%.<sup>23</sup>

## 6.1.4. FERA and Medical Baseline

The SCE Settlement does not change the FERA or medical baseline program tariffs.<sup>24</sup>

Under the FERA program, residential customers meeting certain household income and family size criteria are charged the Tier 2 rates for energy usage in Tier 3. The settlement reduces the differential between Tiers 2 and 3, resulting in a decrease in the discount FERA customers receive on Tier 3 usage of approximately 9% (from an approximately 40% discount to an approximately 31% discount).<sup>25</sup> While the discount percentage for FERA customers is decreasing, it remains close to the historically highest level.<sup>26</sup>

SCE medical baseline customers will continue to receive an additional baseline allowance of at least 16.5 kWh per day (approximately 500 kWh per month).<sup>27</sup>

## 6.2. Party Positions

On December 23, 2014, protests to the November 22, 2013 Phase 2 Proposal were filed by CforAT/Greenlining, Marin Clean Energy, TASC, Vote Solar and SEIA, IREC, and NRDC and Sierra Club (jointly). CLECA filed a response that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> SCE Settlement Agreement Section 4.d at 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> *Id.* at 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Reporter's Transcript at 52, line 27 – 53, line 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Reporter's Transcript at 77, line 1 – 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Some medical baseline customers qualify for additional allowance increments.

included a partial protest. ORA argued that SCE's proposed three-tiered rate would result in substantial bill increases compared to current rates<sup>28</sup> and was too dramatic for an interim rate design proposal. TURN stated that the proposed increases to non-CARE and CARE rates for Tier 1 were excessive. The Sierra Club and NRDC jointly argued that SCE's proposal was "excessive" and not "modest,"<sup>29</sup> contrary to the directions provided in the October 2013 ACR. Many of the arguments made in the protests became moot once SCE filed its simplified Phase 2 Proposal. ORA, TURN, Sierra Club and NRDC all support the SCE Settlement.

CforAT/Greenlining filed intervenor testimony on SCE's January 2014 simplified Phase 2 Proposal (Exhibit GL-01.) No party protested the terms of the SCE Settlement. CforAT/Greenlining's arguments regarding the sufficiency of the affordability analysis, are addressed in the Discussion section below.

Illustrative rates are shown on Attachment E.

## 7. SDG&E Settlement

On March 27, 2014, SDGE, TURN, ORA, UCAN, SDCAN, and CCUE filed a joint motion for adoption of the Settlement Agreement for Phase Two Interim Residential Rate Design Changes for SDG&E (SDG&E Settlement). A copy of the SDG&E Settlement is attached as Attachment C, and we provide a general summary of the terms below. Like the other two settlements, the SDG&E Settlement represents a compromise of the positions of the settling parties. The SDG&E Settlement sets forth rules governing changes to tiered rates resulting

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> ORA December 23, 2014 Protest at 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> NRDC/Sierra Club December 23, 2014, Joint Protest at 3.

from revenue requirement changes for the period from February 1, 2014 until a decision in Phase 1 (SDG&E Settlement Period).

The SDG&E Settlement provides that non-CARE Tier 1 rates shall change at a level of RAR plus 2%, but in no event less than 7% relative to February 2014 rates. In the event that Tier 1 rates change at the floor level of 7%, the existing cents per kWh differential between Tier 1 and Tier 2 shall be maintained.

Non-CARE Tier 2 rates shall change at a level of RAR plus 4%, subject to the provisions applicable to the Tier 1 and Tier 2 differential in the event the Tier 1 rate reaches the 7% floor.

CARE Tier 1 and Tier 2 rates shall change at a level of RAR plus 2%, while CARE Tier 3 rates shall change at a level of RAR plus 5%.

After following the rules described above, the non-CARE Tier 3 and Tier 4 rates are then adjusted in a manner that maintains the existing 2 cent differential between Tier 3 and Tier 4 rates.

During the SDG&E Settlement Period, SDG&E will consolidate revenue requirement changes whenever feasible to reduce unnecessary rate fluctuations. The settling parties also agreed that upon adoption of the SDG&E Settlement, there would be no other changes to the non-CARE or CARE rate structures other than those in the SDG&E Settlement during the SDG&E Settlement Period. In addition, as part of the SDG&E Settlement, ORA agreed to withdraw its protest to SDG&E's Advice Letter 2575-E concerning SDG&E's GRC Phase 2.

ORA emphasizes that the SDG&E Settlement relies on the agreed-upon formula to address the revenue uncertainty. ORA notes that while residential cost compared to the system as a whole was going to see a 5% reduction, SDG&E initially proposed to base the rate changes on the system average rate (SAR).

According to ORA, residential customers will benefit from the fact that the formula in the SDG&E Settlement is tied to RAR instead of SAR.

In addition, ORA notes that the agreement ties all other future rate changes to the February 1, 2014 rate, and the residential cost, plus a percentage change, so Tier 1 and the CARE customers will not see increases of more than a couple of percentage points above the average residential rate increase.<sup>30</sup> Similarly, TURN states that the rule-based approach was very important due to potential shifting in the revenue requirement on issues related to the San Onofre nuclear power plant.

# 7.1. Specific Elements of Settlement Agreement7.1.1. CARE Rates

CARE Tier 1 and Tier 2 rates would change at a level of RAR plus 2% and CARE Tier 3 rates would change at a level of RAR plus 5%.

Almost half of CARE customers will see a monthly bill increase of less than \$5 under these rates compared to the rates effective on February 1, 2014. Assuming 100% of pending revenue requirement requests are approved, 47% of CARE customers would experience an increase of less than \$5 per month, and 81% of customers would experience an increase of less than \$10 per month. These rates result in an average CARE effective discount of 37.8%.

## 7.1.2. Non-CARE Rates

Non-CARE Tier 1 rates would change at a level of RAR plus 2%, but in no event less than 7% relative to February 1, 2014 rates. In the event that Tier 1 rates

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Reporter's Transcript at 103.

change at the floor level of 7%, the existing cents per kWh differential between Tier 1 and Tier 2 rates shall be maintained.

Non-CARE Tier 2 rates would change at a level of RAR plus 4%, subject to the provisions applicable to the Tier 1 and Tier 2 differential in the event that Tier 1 reaches the 7% floor above.

After following the rules described above, the non-CARE Tier 3 and Tier 4 rates are then adjusted in a manner that maintains the existing 2 cents differential between Tier 3 and Tier 4 rates.

AB 327 requires that the CARE effective discount be gradually reduced to reach the 30–35% statutory range. As of March 2014, the CARE effective discount was 39.2%. Assuming 100% of pending revenue requirement requests are approved, the new effective discount will be 37.8%.

#### 7.1.3. Baseline Percentage

The SDG&E Settlement does not change the baseline percentage for basic customers' Tier 1 usage which is currently set between 52-54% (depending on climate zone) in the summer and 53-55% (depending on climate zone) in the winter.

#### 7.1.4. FERA and Medical Baseline

The SDG&E Settlement includes no major structural adjustments to the FERA or medical baseline programs.

Under the FERA program, residential customers meeting certain household income and family size criteria are charged the Tier 2 rates for energy usage in Tier 3. The settlement reduces the differential between Tiers 2 and 3 approximately .2 cents, but on a percentage basis reduces the discount FERA customers receive on Tier 3 usage by approximately 3% (from an approximately 49% discount to an approximately 46% discount). Medical baseline customers will continue to receive a discount in the form of an additional baseline allowance of at least 16.5 kWh per day (approximately 500 kWh per month).<sup>31</sup>

## 7.2. Party Positions

SDG&E's initial proposal included proposals to: increase Tier 1 and Tier 2 rates; consolidate Tiers 3 and 4; move CARE subsidies from rates to a line item on the bill for residential and non-residential CARE customers; begin the transition to an effective CARE discount rate of 30-35%; and to adopt a four-year transition for non-CARE medical baseline rates. On December 23, 2014, protests to the November 22, 2013 Phase 2 Proposal were filed by CforAT/Greenlining, Marin Clean Energy, TASC, Vote Solar and SEIA, IREC, NRDC and Sierra Club , and SDCAN. CLECA filed a response that included a partial protest.

In response to the January 2014 Scoping Memo, SDG&E's January 28, 2014, the simplified Phase 2 Proposal recommended increasing Tier 1 and Tier 2 rates at the same level as SAR increases; changing CARE rates with and at the same level as SAR changes; increasing Tier 1 non-CARE rates by an additional 1 cent per kWh; and reducing the differential between Tier 3 and Tier 4 non-CARE rates from 2 cents per kWh to 1 cent per kWh. Many of the arguments made in the protests became moot once SDG&E filed its simplified Phase 2 Proposal. However, ORA, TURN, UCAN and SDCAN each filed testimony in response to the simplified Phase 2 Proposal. The intervenors expressed concern regarding impacts on lower tier customers and the potential for rate shock associated with SDG&E's proposal to quickly approach a two-tiered rate structure.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Some medical baseline customers qualify for additional allowance increments of 500 kWh.

ORA recommended that the tier rate changes should be based on RAR changes rather than the SAR changes and that the starting point for bill impact calculation should be November 2013 instead of February 2, 2014 to allow the Commission to see the cumulative bill impacts over a longer and more meaningful period. In particular, ORA noted that SDG&E's Tier 1 and Tier 2 rates are currently 4.1% higher than they were in November 2013.<sup>32</sup> ORA stated that its recommendation would have resulted in rate increases of 15% and 18% for non-CARE Tiers 1 and 2, compared to SDG&E's revised proposal, which would have resulted in increases of 29% and 22%, respectively, for non-CARE Tiers 1 and 2.

TURN's testimony noted that compared to the simplified Phase 2 Proposals of PG&E and SCE, the SDG&E Phase 2 Proposal would significantly increase the Tier 1 rate (by 24% versus 7.9% for PG&E and 12.5% for SCE).<sup>33</sup> TURN objected to SDG&E's proposal to significantly reduce both the Tier 2 to Tier 1 differential and the Tier 3 to Tier 4 differential. The proposed differentials would, in essence, result in a two-tiered rate structure. Instead, TURN recommended movement toward a three-tiered rate structure and adoption of ORA's recommendation for interim rates.

SDCAN recommended that any significant rate changes should occur in Tiers 2 and 3, in order to move toward a three-tiered rate structure instead of a two-tiered rate structure. SDCAN also recommended that SDG&E's revenues

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Exhibit ORA-01 at 5, lines 11-12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Exhibit TURN-01 at 4.

should be revised to either exclude projected rate increases or to incorporate offsetting decreases, such as those expected in Investigation 12-10-013.

UCAN stated that SDG&E's proposal results in excessive bill impacts for the lower tiers, particularly Tier 1. For example, UCAN's testimony identified the need to take SDG&E's substantial pending rate increase into account when evaluating whether to increase Tier 1 rates by an additional 1 cent. The SDG&E Settlement reflects issues raised in UCAN's testimony.

TURN, ORA, SDCAN and UCAN all support the SDG&E Settlement.

CforAT/Greenlining's arguments regarding the sufficiency of the affordability analysis are addressed in the Discussion section below.

Illustrative rates are shown on Attachment E.

#### 7.3. Discussion

#### 7.3.1. Article 12

The rules for submission and review of Commission settlements are set forth in Article 12 of the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure. The general criteria for Commission approval of settlements are stated in Rule 12.1(d) which provides that "[t]he Commission will not approve settlements, whether contested or uncontested, unless the settlement is reasonable in light of the whole record, consistent with the law, and in the public interest."

As a matter of public policy, the Commission favors settlement of disputed issues if they are fair and reasonable in light of the whole record. This policy supports worthwhile goals, including reducing the expense of litigation, conserving scarce Commission resources, and allowing parties to reduce the risk that litigation will produce unacceptable results.<sup>34</sup> We must decide whether the settlements, as proposed, meet the requirements established by Rule 12(d). Below we consider each of the three requirements.

## 7.3.2. Are Settlement Agreements Reasonable in Light of the Whole Record?

First, we consider whether the three settlements are reasonable in light of the whole record. The record to date, in relevant part, includes the IOUs' Phase 2 Proposals submitted on November 22, 2013, protests to the proposals filed on December 23, 2014, the IOUs' simplified Phase 2 Proposals submitted on January 28, 2014, the joint motions for adoption of settlement agreements concerning PG&E, SCE, and SDG&E filed by the applicable settling parties, and the testimony from the IOUs and intervenors to the extent accepted into the evidentiary record.

The resulting settlements represent some movement from all settling parties' positions and attempts to balance the interests of all residential ratepayers. We conclude that the settling parties have appropriately complied with the applicable procedural rules governing notice and submission of the settlements presented in this proceeding. The parties convened and provided notice of a settlement conference. The settling parties filed motions for approval of the settlements, each of which provided a statement of the factual and legal considerations adequate to advise the Commission as to the scope of the settlement and of the grounds on which approval is requested.

The settlements are not all-party settlements, but only two parties, CforAT/Greenlining (jointly) have argued against approval and no party filed a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> D.92-12-019, 46 CPUC2d 538, 553.

protest to any of the settlements. Commission policy is that contested settlements should be subject to more scrutiny than an all-party settlement.<sup>35</sup> Here, CforAT/Greenlining argue that (1) there is insufficient record on which to evaluate whether these settlements would meet statutory requirements for affordable electric service, and (2) to the extent there is such a record, it does not support the SDG&E and PG&E proposals. CforAT/Greenlining's arguments, including sufficiency of the record, are addressed in Section 7.3.5 below.

Although no party requested time to question the witnesses sponsoring each of the three settlements, we conducted an Evidentiary Hearing to hear the settlement proposals and question the sponsoring witnesses. Participation in each of the settlements varied depending on the parties' specific interests. However, a review of the signatories to each settlement reveals that the sponsoring parties are fairly reflective of the affected interests and the sponsors of each settlement fairly represent the customers and customer classes affected by the issues in this proceeding.

We find that the PG&E Settlement, the SCE Settlement, and SDG&E Settlement represent reasonable compromises of each of the settling parties' respective positions.

For example, the SCE Settlement provides that rates for Tier 1 and Tier 2 will increase by 12% and 17% respectively, compared to SCE's January 2014 simplified Phase 2 Proposal which would have increased both Tier 1 and Tier 2 rates by 17%.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> D.07-03-044 at 13 (citing D.96-01-011, Finding of Fact 5).

The PG&E Settlement reflects similar compromises. While PG&E's January 2014 Phase 2 Proposal would have applied revenue requirement increases to non-CARE Tier 1 and Tier 2 rates while decreasing non-CARE Tier 3 and Tier 4 rates, the PG&E Settlement provides that PG&E's non-CARE Tier 3 and Tier 4 rates will be subject to increases under certain circumstances. The parties to the PG&E Settlement also agreed to compromise regarding baseline quantities, essentially splitting the difference between the two proposals.

The SDG&E Settlement also reflects compromise by the settling parties. For example, SDG&E's January 2014 simplified Phase 2 Proposal would have reduced the differential between non-CARE Tier 1 and Tier 2 and increased Tier 1 rates at the same level as SAR plus one cent per kWh, but the SDG&E Settlement provides that non-CARE Tier 1 rates change at a level of RAR plus 2% (but in no event less than 7%) while non-CARE Tier 2 rates change at a level of RAR plus 4%. And, rather than changing CARE rates at a the same level as SAR changes, as SDG&E proposed, the SDG&E Settlement provides that CARE Tier 1 and Tier 2 rates change at a level of RAR plus 2% and CARE Tier 3 rates change at a level of RAR plus 5%.

## 7.3.3. Are Settlement Agreements Consistent with the Law?7.3.3.1. Applicable Laws

The terms of each settlement are also consistent with the law. The settlements contain detailed descriptions of the rationale supporting the settlement and the rate changes to be implemented and the manner in which they are to be implemented. In light of the various revenue requirement changes stemming from other proceedings, and the urgent need to revise rates to better reflect cost of service and reduce historical subsidies, we find that the interim

rates resulting from the settlements represent measured changes, consistent with the law, including AB 327, Section 382(b) and Section 451.

Each of the settlement agreements results in the allocation of revenue requirement increases among residential customer and tiers in a manner that is measured and fair while continuing to move in the direction of more cost-based rate structure. Each of the settlements also limits the bill impacts for CARE and Tier 1 customers significantly, compared to the IOU's November 2013 Phase 2 Proposals. The settlements do not change the structure of the FERA or medical baseline programs. The settlement agreements retain significant CARE discounts, with the SDG&E Settlement resulting in an effective CARE discount of 37.4%,<sup>36</sup> and the PG&E Settlement resulting in an effective CARE discount of 45%, while still effectively placing each of the IOUs on the required "glide path" towards the 30-35% effective CARE discount limit set forth in Section 739.1(c)(1).

### 7.3.4. Rate Design Principles

Each of the settlements is consistent with the Rate Design Principles set forth above. The settlements represent a gradual step toward electric rates that are closer to cost of service beginning in summer 2014, in accordance with Rate Design Principles 2, 3, 7, 8 and 9. In recognition of Principles 1 and 7, the settlements limit the increase in rates and add protections for non-CARE Tier 1 and CARE Tier 1 and Tier 2 customers in the event of high revenue requirement increases. The settlements address Principles 4 and 7 by moving rates closer to cost of service so that lower tier customers can make more economic decisions regarding their energy use. In addition, under the settlements the current tier

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Reporter's Transcript at 107-108.

structure for all three IOUs remain intact, thus deferring to Phase 1 any need for a closer of examination of whether the inclining block structure provides a sufficient conservation incentive for all customers. Principle 6, to limit subsidies, is also addressed by the slight reduction of the subsidies paid by upper tier non-CARE customers to cover the shortfall created by below-cost rates for CARE and lower tier usage customers. The rate changes do not address Principle 5 which seeks to reduce both coincident and non-coincident peak demand.

# 7.3.5. Affordability Requirements 7.3.5.1. Overview

The settlements are also consistent with the affordability requirement of Section 382(b), that low-income ratepayers not be "jeopardized or overburdened by monthly energy expenditures." And, because Tier 1 rates continue to be set using the baseline quantity, the settlements ensure that the per kWh rates for an essential amount of electricity remains affordable. Each of the settlements preserves significant assistance to low-income customers, does not change the structure of the FERA and medical baseline programs, and, where necessary, begins the transition to the legislatively-mandated CARE discount range of 30-35% in compliance with Section 739.1.

## 7.3.5.2. Affordability of Changed Rates

As CforAT/Greenlining point out, analysis of residential rate changes must consider affordability. CforAT/Greenlining argue that this proceeding has not given adequate consideration to this concern.

Affordability analysis is framed by state law including Section 451 (requiring just and reasonable rates) and Section 382(b) (requiring reduced rates for certain low income customers and endeavoring to provide essential electricity at an affordable cost).

The burden is on the IOUs to justify proposed rate changes by showing they meet the law, including affordability requirements. The IOUs have done so by entering into multi-party settlements, and providing bill impact and energy burden analysis.

CforAT/Greenlining argue that the settlement rates do not meet their interpretation of Section 382(b) affordability requirements, but CforAT/Greenlining do not suggest an alternative to this rate design that would meet all the legal requirements and Rate Design Principles. As SCE puts it, CforAT/Greenlining "essentially advocate for a rate design for this summer that would result in all authorized revenue increases being reflected only in non-CARE Rates for Tiers 3 and 4." Such a design would not meet all the legal requirements and Rate Design Principles. In particular, current rate design does not reflect cost of service, which makes it difficult to argue that current rate design is "just and reasonable" as required by Section 451. Moreover, by passing AB 327, the Legislature indicated its support for making residential rates more reflective of cost.

### 7.3.5.3. Sufficiency of Evidence on Affordability

CforAT/Greenlining also argue that the testimony in this proceeding did not include sufficient information about the impacts of rate changes on affordability. Notably, as part of the initial rate change proposals, only SCE included energy burden data. Energy burden is the ratio of the customer's cost for electricity and gas compared to the customer's income. In this proceeding, we have primarily relied on electricity burden: the ratio of electricity bill charges to income. Prior to the due date for briefs, all three IOUs provided testimony that includes electricity burden data. (Exhibit SCE-03 at 19; Exhibit SCE-08 Amended at 29-48; Exhibit PGE-09; Exhibit SDGE-10.)

In addition, as ORA points out, bill impact analysis, which has been the centerpiece of the rate design analysis in this proceeding, does address affordability. Indeed, similar bill impact analyses are used in general rate cases and rate design windows to evaluate whether new rates will cause rate shocks or make energy unaffordable. (ORA at 6.)

## 7.3.6. Compliance with Affordability Requirements

CforAT/Greenlining use a 5% energy burden (combined gas and electricity) as a benchmark for "high energy burden." This benchmark is used by the Low Income Needs Assessment (LINA) Report.<sup>37</sup> (CforAT/Greenlining Opening citing LINA at 5-84 – 5-85.) However, neither the Commission nor state law has adopted a specific benchmark or test to determine whether a customer's energy burden is "high" and whether energy burden by itself can be used to evaluate affordability of electricity. SCE also points out that high usage customers bear the highest energy burden. (Exhibit SCE-05 at 29.)

CforAT/Greenlining did not specifically protest the SCE Settlement rates in its briefs. SCE's rate proposal does not change its currently effective baseline

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> The full name of the LINA Report is the "Needs Assessment for Energy Savings Assistance and the California Alternate Rates for Energy Programs" prepared by Evergreen Economics, December 2013. An earlier low income needs assessment known as the "KEMA Report" is also referenced. The full name of the "KEMA Report" is the "Final Report on Phase 2 Low Income Needs Assessment" prepared by the consulting firm KEMA for the Commission, dated September 7, 2007. Portions of the LINA Report are included in the evidentiary record within Exhibit CforAT-01 (Revised Prepared Testimony of Henry J. Contreras Addressing Affordability Issues for Vulnerable Customers for Summer 2014).

quantity. (SCE Reply at 2.) Baseline allowances are designed pursuant to Section 739(d)(2) with the goal of ensuring affordable bills for baseline usage of electricity. SCE's average CARE average discount (excluding the effect of Climate Credit) will be 32.5% for SCE CARE customers. This is an increase from current levels.

Only approximately 2% of SDG&E's non-CARE customers face a 5% or above energy burden. However, CforAT/Greenlining calculate that in the desert climate zone over 18% of customers face an energy burden of 5% or above. CforAT/Greenlining is correct that aggregate data may hide extreme differentials, such as the higher energy burdens experienced in the desert climate zone. We are not convinced, however, that at this time such a differential violates the requirements for affordable quantities of essential energy.

The electricity burden analysis provided by PG&E shows that PG&E's bill-to-income ratio calculations for CARE customers under the PG&E Settlement result in a median bill-to-income ratio below 2.5% with 90% of CARE customers spending less than 6.7% of their 2009 income on electricity.<sup>38</sup> CforAT/Greenlining's primary affordability concern regarding the PG&E Settlement is the impact of future revenue requirement increases on CARE and lower tier customers. The PG&E Settlement, however, caps any such increases thereby preventing any extreme bill impacts on CARE Tier 1 and Tier 2 usage and non-CARE Tier 1 usage.<sup>39</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> PG&E Opening Brief at 12, citing Exhibit PG&E-6 at 6, lines 6-33.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> The CARE Tier 3 rate is not capped.

## 7.3.6.1. Rates Must be Considered in Context

When evaluating proposed rate changes for affordability, it is necessary to consider the context of the proposal.

First, as noted above, all three IOUs are implementing higher revenue requirements at or around the same time that the Phase 2 Settlement Rates would go into effect. This increase in revenue requirement accounts for a substantial portion of the increase in the CARE and Tier 1 and 2 rates. For example, SCE residential customers as a group face an 8% increase in RAR for revenue increases being reviewed in other proceedings. (SCE Reply at 4.)

Second, evaluation of rates should consider both the percentage increase and the actual dollar increase. For customers with lower tier usage, and CARE customers, the percentage on their already lower bills appears higher than the percentage impact on customers with high usage. The actual dollar amount of increases in lower tier and CARE rates, however, is modest.

Third, high usage customers, both CARE and non-CARE, are the most likely to contact their utility to ask for payment extensions and arrangements. (SCE Reply at 13 citing Exhibit SCE-03 at 32-25.)

Fourth, CARE and Tier 1 and 2 rates have not experienced any significant increases over the last decade. During that same period, the RAR for each IOU has grown substantially.

Finally, it is important to note that the Joint Opening Briefs demonstrate that a variety of parties, including both IOUs and ratepayer advocacy groups, support the settled rates. The settled rates will limit the bill impact for non-CARE and CARE Tier 1 usage, retain a high effective CARE discount, and retain discounts to assist FERA customers.

### 7.3.7. Modeling

The IOUs' rate change proposals require complex utility rate design models to develop rates as well as bill impact models to evaluate the impact of the proposed rates on customers. As noted above, in this proceeding we directed the IOUs to develop rate impact calculators to assist parties in understanding and testing the impacts of different rate design scenarios. The calculators were developed over a period of several months with the input of all interested parties. Because the rate design changes associated with the settlements are limited, the resulting bill impacts stem, in large, part from the various underlying revenue requirement changes that have been and will be determined in other proceedings, and are not exclusively the result of the changes to rate design adopted herein. The settlements we adopt today each require the utilities to consolidate revenue requirement increases and/or decreases to the extent feasible to avoid frequent rate changes and rate shock.

## 7.4. Are Settlement Agreements in the Public Interest?

The settlement agreements are in the public interest. In addition to the reasons set forth in the discussion above, it is important to implement these rate changes in time to reduce the volatility of summer electricity rates. The settlement agreements are also in the public interest because they reduce the time and expense of litigation for all parties and they conserve Commission resources.

### 7.5. Settlement Agreements Meet Article 12 Requirements

The settlement agreements represent a reasonable compromise of the parties' respective positions and result in interim rates that are equitable, affordable, and consistent with the Commission's rate and policy objectives for residential rate design.

Each of the settlements complies with the requirements of AB 327, balances the Rate Design Principles and limits increases to CARE customers to the extent reasonable in light of the statutory requirement to bring the effective CARE discount down to 30-35%. Consistent with the January 24, 2014 Scoping Memo, the settlements do not include any major adjustments or structural changes to the CARE, FERA or medical baseline programs.

In conclusion, consistent with Rule 12.1(d), we find that the PG&E Settlement, the SCE Settlement, and the SDG&E Settlement presented above and attached as Attachments A, B, and C, respectively, are reasonable in light of the whole record, consistent with the law, and in the public interest. We adopt the settlement agreements and authorize PG&E, SCE and SDG&E to file Tier 1 Advice Letters to implement the changes in rates in accordance with their respective settlements.

## 7.6. Tier 1 Compliance Advice Letters

In the their settlement agreements both SDG&E<sup>40</sup> and SCE<sup>41</sup> request authority to file Tier 1 Compliance Advice Letters implementing tariffs containing the rate changes resulting from the settlements as soon as practical following issuance of a final Commission decision. In their joint motion for adoption of settlement both SDG&E<sup>42</sup> and SCE<sup>43</sup> state that the intent of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> Settlement Agreement for Phase 2 Interim Residential Rate Design Changes for San Diego Gas and Electric Company, March 27, 2014, at 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Settlement Agreement For Southern California Edison Company's Phase 2 Simplified Summer 2014 Residential Rate Design Change, March 4, 2014, at 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> Joint Motion of San Diego Gas & Electric Company (U 902E), the Office Of Ratepayer Advocates, The Utility Reform Network, the Utility Consumers' Action Network, the San Diego Consumers' Action Network, and the Coalition of California Utility

settling parties is to seek Commission approval of the Settlement Agreements no later than June 12, 2014, so as to implement the revised rates no later than July 12, 2014. SCE further states it "...would like to be given discretion as to when it will implement rate changes following a final Commission decision and before July 12, 2014."

PG&E's settlement agreement did not specify the steps for implementation of the rate changes.

Pursuant to the SDG&E Settlement, SDG&E's advice letter will include data regarding February 1, 2014 rates, and RAR and SAR contrasted to the February 1, 2014 rate as percent changes to assist parties in reviewing the revenue requirement changes.

Because one of the purposes of the proposed rate changes is to reduce bill volatility for summer 2014, the IOUs should act promptly to implement the rate changes once the settlements are approved.

We therefore direct the IOUs to each file a Tier 1 Compliance Advice Letter, in accordance with their applicable settlement agreement and this decision, no later than 15 days after a final Phase 2 decision is issued.

We also direct all three IOUs to include in their advice letter data regarding (a) February 1, 2014 rates, (2) RAR and SAR changes relative to the

Employees for Adoption of Settlement Agreement for Phase 2 Interim Residential Rate Design Changes, March 27, 2014, at 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> Joint Motion of Southern California Edison Company (U 338-E), the Office Of Ratepayer Advocates, the Utility Reform Network, the Coalition Of California Utility Employees, the Sierra Club and the Natural Resources Defense Council for Adoption of Settlement Agreement for Phase 2 Simplified Summer 2014 Residential Rate Design Changes, March 4, 2014, at 13.

February 1, 2014 rates, and (3) percent changes to assist parties in reviewing the advice letters.

## 8. Safety Considerations

The Commission's regulatory responsibility includes ensuring that utility safety programs and measures are adequately funded. Parties did not identify any other safety issues raised by this rate design proceeding. Other Commission proceedings, such as the IOUs' general rate cases, are charged with ensuring that customer rates are collected and used appropriately to fund safety programs and measures. We will continue to consider the safety implications of rate design in Phase 1 of this proceeding.

## 9. Comments on Proposed Decision

The proposed decision of the ALJs in this matter was mailed to the parties in accordance with Section 311 of the Public Utilities Code and comments were allowed under Rule 14.3 of the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure. Comments were filed on May 29, 2014 by CforAT, Greenlining, PG&E, SCE, and UCAN. No reply comments were filed.

## 10. Assignment of Proceeding

Michael R. Peevey is the assigned Commissioner and Jeanne M. McKinney and Julie M. Halligan are the assigned ALJs in this proceeding.

## **Findings of Fact**

1. Residential rates for the three IOUs are based on an inclining block price structure, wherein monthly usage is broken into tiers by volume with usage in the lower tiers paying a lower rate than usage in the higher tiers.

2. One purpose of the inclining block rate structure is to encourage residential customers to reduce aggregate electricity consumption.

3. Since 2001, lower usage tier rates have essentially been frozen resulting in all increases in revenue requirements allocated to residential customers being borne by customers with usage in the upper tiers.

4. For all three IOUs, the current rates charged for electricity usage falling in Tier 4 are more than double the rates charged for electricity usage falling in Tier 1.

5. The steep differentials between usage tiers result in lower tier rates substantially below cost of service and upper tier rates substantially above cost of service.

6. Residential customers do not receive price signals that reflect their cost of service.

7. Because electricity rates increase sharply with increased usage, and because residential customers typically do not know at what point during the month their usage will reach a higher tier threshold, customers can experience unexpected large increases in monthly bills for a small increase in usage. This is particularly true during high-use periods such as summer months.

8. Customers with high use and low income are especially disadvantaged by the current steeply tiered rates.

9. In SCE's service territory, customers with use in the higher tiers are the most likely to ask for bill payment assistance or extensions.

10. In SCE's service territory, the highest electricity burdens are faced by customers with the highest usage.

11. The CARE discount was originally set at approximately 15% off otherwise applicable non-CARE rates.

12. Currently, the effective discount rates for CARE have increased to 48.4% (PG&E), 32% (SCE), and 39.2% (SDG&E).

13. All three IOUs have pending requests that, if approved, would substantially increase their revenue requirements, resulting in substantially increased average rates.

14. This proceeding does not address IOU revenue requirements.

15. A substantial portion of the rate increases that may occur when this decision is implemented are the result of underlying revenue requirement increases that are being examined in separate proceedings.

16. Rates that are set independently from pending revenue requirement changes, such as the lower tier and CARE rates set by the PG&E Settlement, can provide protection and certainty for customers with usage in those tiers regardless of approved revenue requirement.

17. All three IOUs have filed settlement agreements and no party filed a protest to any of those settlement agreements. CforAT/Greenlining, however, did contest the settlement agreements in its briefs.

18. The parties to the Settlement Agreements represent diverse interests.

19. The proposed Settlement Agreements represent a balance between the original positions as otherwise litigated in the prepared testimony of the parties.

20. The rate design changes proposed in the Settlement Agreements are reasonable.

21. One measure of affordability is the ratios of electricity charges to customer income (electricity burden). The Commission does not have a specific benchmark or metric for identifying what ratio constitutes a "high" electricity burden.

22. On March 5, 2014, PG&E, ORA, and TURN filed a Joint Motion to Adopt Settlement for PG&E. The PG&E Settlement is attached to this decision as Attachment A. The PG&E Settlement does not change the number of usage tiers,

or the structure of FERA or medical baseline programs. It does not include a fixed customer charge. The PG&E Settlement does modify baseline quantities for each climate zone, update baseline quantity values based on historical usage data by climate zone for the May 2008 through April 2012 period, and modifies the differentials between usage tiers.

23. The PG&E Settlement set CARE rates and non-CARE Tier 1 and Tier 2 rates independently of pending changes in its revenue requirement.

24. In the event that 100% of PG&E's pending revenue requirement requests are approved, the new CARE average effective discount will be 46.5%.

25. Until otherwise decided by the Commission, future revenue requirement increases and decreases will be made pursuant to the PG&E Settlement, which provides that generally increases and decreases be shared across all non-CARE and CARE tier rates on an equal cents per kWh basis, except that increases to non-CARE Tier 1 and CARE Tiers 1 and 2 are capped at 1.5 cents per kWh. During this period, PG&E will seek to consolidate authorized revenue requirement increases and decreases.

26. On March 4, 2014, SCE, ORA, TURN, CCUE, Sierra Club and NRDC filed a Joint Motion for Adoption of Settlement Agreement for Phase 2 Simplified Summer 2014 Residential Rate Design Changes for SCE. The SCE Settlement does not change the number of usage tiers or the structure of FERA or medical baseline programs. It does not change the currently applicable Basic Customer Charge. The SCE Settlement does modify the differentials between usage tiers.

27. Under the SCE Settlement, the CARE average effective discount will be 32.5%.

28. Under the SCE Settlement, the CARE average effective discount will be at its highest historical level.

- 56 -

29. Until otherwise decided by the Commission, future revenue requirement increases and decreases for SCE will be allocated according to the SCE Settlement, which provides, generally, that non-CARE rates will be increased or decreased by the same percentage, except in the event of a decrease between December 31, 2014 and January 1, 2015, in which event the non-CARE Tier 1 and Tier 2 rates will not change and the non-CARE Tier 3 and Tier 4 rates will be set residually to collect the authorized revenue requirement such that the rate differential between Tiers 3 and 4 is at least 4 cents. CARE rates will continue to be set residually so that Tiers 1 and 2 are each discounted by 35% and the average CARE effective discount for all three tiers is 32.5%.

30. On March 28, 2014, SDG&E, ORA, TURN, UCAN, SDCAN, and CCUE filed a Joint Motion for Adoption of Settlement Agreement for Phase 2 Interim Residential Rate Design Changes for SDG&E. The SDG&E Settlement does not change the number of usage tiers or the structure of the FERA or medical baseline programs. It does not include a fixed customer charge and it does not change the current baseline quantities. The SDG&E Settlement does change the differentials between tiers.

31. Under the SDG&E Settlement, the average effective CARE discount will be 37.8%.

32. Until otherwise decided by the Commission, future revenue requirement increases and decreases will be made according to the SDG&E Settlement, which provides, generally, that CARE Tier 1 and 2 and non-CARE Tier 1 be set at RAR plus 2%, non-CARE Tiers 1 and 2 at RAR plus 4% and CARE Tier 3 at RAR plus 5%. Non-CARE Tier 3 and Tier 4 will be set residually and will maintain a 2 cent differential. During this period, SDG&E will seek to consolidate authorized revenue changes.

33. Electricity rates must be designed to achieve multiple goals and balance multiple principles.

34. The decision opening this OIR suggested specific rate design principles which were examined and modified by the parties through this proceeding. A final version of the optimal rate design principles for this proceeding was included in the Scoping Memo.

35. Setting forth specific rate design principles for this proceeding provides a useful tool for evaluating, comparing and balancing attributes of different residential rate designs.

36. ARB administers the AB 32 Cap-and-Trade program pursuant to which the state grants a direct allocation of GHG allowances to electric utilities on behalf of customers for the dual purposes of protecting electricity customers and of advancing AB 32 objectives. The revenue from the sale of GHG allowances is returned to customers through a variety of means, including the California Climate Credit which is made on a per household basis to residential customers.

37. The Climate Credit currently appears as a credit on each residential customer's bill twice per year.

38. The CARE program is mandated by the state for the purpose of ensuring that energy is available to low income customers at an affordable price.

39. The AB 32 Cap-and-Trade program and the CARE program are both administered through the IOUs, but the programs have separate goals and the revenues received from customers and the revenues from sale of GHG allowances are treated differently.

### **Conclusions of Law**

1. AB 327 lifted the freeze on lower tier rates.

2. The proposed settlement rates comply with Section 451 which requires that rates be "just and reasonable."

3. The proposed settlement rates comply with the Section 382(b) requirement to ensure that low-income ratepayers are not "jeopardized or overburdened by monthly energy expenditures."

4. Proposed changes to baseline comply with Section 739(a)(1) to set the baseline allowance between 50-60% of average residential consumption for basic customers and 60-70% for all-electric customers in the winter heating season.

5. Compared to current tier differentials, the proposed differentials between tiers better comply with the Section 739(d)(1) requirement that the Commission "establish an appropriate gradual differential between the rates for the respective blocks of usage."

6. The proposed SCE CARE rates comply with Section 739.1(c) which requires the average effective CARE discount to be between 30-35% "of the revenues that would have been produced for the same billed usage by non-CARE customers."

7. The proposed PG&E and SDG&E CARE reductions to the average effective CARE discount comply with Section 739.9 which requires that reductions made to the average effective CARE discount be reasonable and be made on a reasonable phase-in schedule.

8. The proposed rate changes comply with the Section 739.9 requirement that increases to electrical rates, including reduction in CARE rates effective discounts, "be reasonable and subject to a reasonable phase-in schedule relative to the rates and charges in effect prior to January 2014."

9. The optimal Rate Design Principles developed in this proceeding should be adopted by the Commission for evaluating rate changes in this proceeding.

10. Applying the Rate Design Principles to proposed rate changes requires a balancing of countervailing public policy goals and interests within the context of current economic and regulatory trends affecting residential rates.

11. The proposed rates represent a reasonable balancing of the Rate Design Principles.

12. The Commission is responsible for ensuring that low income ratepayers are not jeopardized or overburdened by monthly energy expenditures and that rate design promotes conservation and energy efficiency. In meeting these responsibilities, the Commission must also ensure that rates are just and reasonable for all residential customers.

13. Although an on-bill credit is used to return the Climate Credit to residential customers, the Climate Credit should not be considered a reduction in the individual customer's electricity bill.

14. For calculation of the CARE effective discount, the Climate Credit must be excluded.

15. For calculation of bill impacts of proposed rates in this proceeding, the Climate Credit should be excluded.

16. The IOU settlement agreements are reasonable in light of the record, consistent with law, and in the public interest.

17. The IOU settlement agreements should be approved.

18. All outstanding motions and requests in this proceeding that are not specifically addressed in this decision should be denied.

## ORDER

#### IT IS ORDERED that:

1. The March 5, 2014 Joint Motion of Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E), Office of Ratepayer Advocates, and The Utility Reform Network to Adopt Settlement for PG&E is granted. The settlement agreement attached as Attachment A to this decision is adopted.

2. The March 4, 2014, Joint Motion of Southern California Edison Company (SCE), Office of Ratepayer Advocates, The Utility Reform Network, Coalition of California Utility Employees, Sierra Club and National Resources Defense Council for Adoption of Settlement Agreement for Phase 2 Simplified Summer 2014 Residential Rate Design Changes for SCE is granted. The settlement agreement attached as Attachment B to this decision is adopted.

3. The March 28, 2014 Joint Motion of San Diego Gas & Electric Company (SDG&E), Office of Ratepayer Advocates, The Utility Reform Network, Utility Consumers' Action Network, San Diego Consumers' Action Network, and Coalition of California Utility Employees for Adoption of Settlement Agreement for Phase 2 Interim Residential Rate Design Changes for SDG&E is granted. The settlement agreement attached as Attachment C to this decision is adopted.

4. The ten optimal Rate Design Principles for this proceeding are adopted for use in evaluating residential rate design changes:

- 1. Low-income and medical baseline customers should have access to enough electricity to ensure basic needs (such as health and comfort) are met at an affordable cost;
- 2. Rates should be based on marginal cost;
- 3. Rates should be based on cost-causation principles;

- 4. Rates should encourage conservation and energy efficiency;
- 5. Rates should encourage reduction of both coincident and non-coincident peak demand;
- 6. Rates should be stable and understandable and provide customer choice;
- 7. Rates should generally avoid cross-subsidies, unless the cross-subsidies appropriately support explicit state policy goals;
- 8. Incentives should be explicit and transparent;
- 9. Rates should encourage economically efficient decision-making; and
- 10. Transitions to new rate structures should emphasize customer education and outreach that enhances customer understanding and acceptance of new rates, and minimizes and appropriately considers the bill impacts associated with such transitions.
- 5. Within 15 days of the date of this decision, Pacific Gas and Electric

Company, Southern California Edison Company, and San Diego Gas and Electric Company shall each file a Tier 1 Advice Letter setting forth the new residential rates adopted from their respective settlement agreements with a requested effective date no earlier than June 30, 2014 and no later than August 1, 2014. The Advice Letter shall include revised tariff sheets to implement the rate designs adopted in this order and documentation sufficient to permit the Commission's Energy Division to determine if the Advice Letter is in compliance with this decision and any other decisions approving rate changes to be implemented concurrently with the changes in rate design. The tariff sheets shall become effective on the requested effective date pending disposition by the Commission's Energy Division and the Advice Letter shall prominently

designate that it is "effective pending disposition." The requested effective date shall be at least 14 days after the date the Advice Letter is filed.

6. The investor-owned utilities and intervenors in this proceeding are ordered to exclude the Climate Credit when calculating the California Alternate Rates for Energy average effective discount and when providing bill impact analyses in this proceeding.

7. All outstanding motions and requests in this proceeding that are not specifically addressed in this decision are denied.

8. Rulemaking 12-06-013 shall remain open.

This order is effective today.

Dated \_\_\_\_\_, at San Francisco, California.

# Attachment A PG&E Settlement

## SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AMONG PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY, OFFICE OF RATEPAYER ADVOCATES, AND THE UTILITY REFORM NETWORK

#### I. INTRODUCTION

A. In accordance with Article 12 of the California Public Utilities Commission's (Commission or CPUC) Rules of Practice and Procedure, the parties to this Settlement Agreement, Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E), the Office of Ratepayer Advocates (ORA), and The Utility Reform Network (TURN) (collectively, the Settling Parties), hereby enter into this Settlement Agreement (Settlement) as a compromise among their respective litigation positions to resolve all disputed issues raised by the parties in PG&E's Summer 2014 Residential Electric Rate Reform Proposal contained in its Revised Prepared Testimony dated January 28, 2014 in Phase 2 of Rulemaking (R.)12-06-013. The Settling Parties agree that this Settlement is reasonable in light of the whole record, consistent with law, and in the public interest.

B. This Settlement is a direct result of encouragement by the Administrative Law Judge and the Office of the Assigned Commissioner to the active parties to seek a reasonable compromise and settlement in order to expedite a Commission decision on PG&E's proposals before the summer of 2014. The Settling Parties held differing views on numerous aspects of PG&E's Summer 2014 Residential Electric Rate Reform Proposals in Phase 2 of this proceeding. However, the Settling Parties have bargained earnestly and in good faith to seek a compromise and to develop this Settlement, which is the result of arms-length negotiations among the Settling Parties on the full range of disputed issues. These negotiations considered the interests of all of the active parties on these issues, and the Settlement addresses each of these interests in a fair and balanced manner.

C. The Settling Parties crafted this Settlement by agreeing to concessions and tradeoffs among themselves. Thus the various elements and sections of the Settlement are intimately

1

interrelated, and should not be altered as the Settling Parties intend that the Settlement be treated as a comprehensive resolution which strives to balance and align the interests of each party. Accordingly, the Settling Parties respectfully request that the Commission promptly approve the Settlement without modification. Any material change to the Settlement shall render it null and void, unless all of the Settling Parties agree in writing to such changes.

#### II. GENERAL CONDITIONS

A. This Settlement Agreement resolves all issues raised by the Settling Parties regarding PG&E's Summer 2014 Residential Electric Rate Reform proposals in Phase 2 of R.12-06-013, as well as the related issue of the percentage used to calculate baseline quantities currently pending in PG&E's 2012 Rate Design Window proceeding, A.12-02-020, subject to the conditions set forth below.

B. This Settlement Agreement embodies the entire understanding and agreement of the Settling Parties resolving their differences on the matters presented in this Phase 2, R.12-06-013 proceeding. Unless otherwise provided in this Agreement, all proposals and recommendations by the parties, are withdrawn or considered subsumed without adoption by this Settlement. This Settlement Agreement supersedes prior oral or written agreements, principles, negotiations, statements, representations, or understandings among the Settling Parties with respect to those matters.

C. This Settlement Agreement represents a negotiated compromise among the Settling Parties' respective positions on the matters described, and the Settling Parties have assented to the terms of the Settlement only to arrive at the agreement embodied herein. Nothing contained in the Settlement should be considered an admission of, acceptance of, agreement to, or endorsement of any disputed fact, principle, or position previously presented by any of the Settling Parties on these matters in this proceeding.

D. This Settlement Agreement does not constitute and should not be used as a precedent regarding any principle or issue in this proceeding or in any future proceeding.

2

E. The Settling Parties agree that this Settlement Agreement is reasonable in light of the testimony submitted, consistent with the law, and in the public interest.

F. The Settling Parties agree that no provision of this Settlement Agreement shall be construed against any Settling Party because that Settling Party or its counsel or advocate drafted the provision.

G. The Settling Parties agree that this Settlement Agreement addresses all Summer
 2014 Residential Rate Reform issues except those expressly excluded in this Settlement
 Agreement.

H. This Settlement Agreement may be amended or changed only by a written agreement signed by the Settling Parties.

I. The Settling Parties shall jointly request Commission approval of this Settlement Agreement and shall actively support its prompt approval. Active support shall include written and oral testimony if testimony is required,<sup>1/</sup> briefing if briefing is required, comments and reply comments on the proposed decision, advocacy to Commissioners and their advisors as needed, and other appropriate means as needed to obtain the requested approval.

J. The Settling Parties intend the Settlement Agreement to be interpreted and treated as a unified, integrated agreement. In the event the Commission rejects or modifies this Settlement Agreement, the Settling Parties reserve their rights under Rule 12.4 of the CPUC's Rules of Practice and Procedure, and the Settlement should not be admitted into evidence in this or any other proceeding. Further, in the event that the Commission rejects or modifies this Settlement Agreement, the Settling Parties agree that all parties to this proceeding should have the right to submit testimony.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>/ Any oral and written testimony that the CPUC might require may be prepared jointly among parties with similar interests.

#### **III. PROCEDURAL HISTORY**

A. In June, 2012, the Commission initiated Rulemaking (R.) 12-06-013 on its own motion to conduct a comprehensive examination of investor-owned electric utilities' residential rate structures, the transition to time varying and dynamic rates, and other statutory obligations.

B. In October, 2013, Assembly Bill (AB) 327 was signed into law, making significant changes to the restrictions on retail residential electric rate structures that the Commission is permitted to authorize, and also containing limits designed to protect certain classes of vulnerable customers.

C. On October 25, 2013, the Assigned Commissioner in R.12-06-013 issued a ruling inviting utilities to submit interim rate change proposals complying with AB 327.

D. On November 22, 2013, PG&E submitted its rate change proposal in R.12-06-013.

E. On December 23, 2013, ORA filed a protest against PG&E's rate change proposal. ORA's protest identified several issues that needed to be addressed in this proceeding including bill impacts, rate structure, CARE discounts, and the treatment of revenue requirement increases until the next rate design proceeding.

F. On December 23, 2013, TURN filed a protest against PG&E's rate change proposal. TURN's protest expressed concerns with proposed increases to Tier 1 rates, proposed changes to the Family Electric Rate Assistance (FERA) program, the proposed reduction of baseline quantities to 50% of average usage, and suggested changes to the CARE discount.

G. On January 8, 2014, a prehearing conference was held in which the Office of the Assigned Commissioner and the Administrative Law Judge indicated that in order to fairly evaluate PG&E's and other utilities' rate change proposals in time to implement new residential rates in 2014, PG&E and the other utilities would need to revise and simplify their proposals.

H. On January 24, 2014, the Assigned Commissioner and Administrative Law Judge issued their Second Amended Scoping Memo, providing that the simplified rate change proposals to be submitted by PG&E and the other utilities "should maintain the existing four-

4

tiered structure and should not entail any major adjustments to California Alternative Rates for Energy (CARE), Family Electric Rate Assistance Program (FERA) or medical baseline programs. Instead, changes should be limited to increases in the lower tiers commensurate with projected increases in the overall revenue requirement allocated to the residential class, plus no more than a few percentage points, if necessary, to keep the upper tiers within a range that will avoid the potential for significant bill volatility and rate shock in the summer. If the resulting CARE effective discount would be greater than 35%, the utility should propose an adjustment that would put CARE rates on a glide path to 35%. The adjustment should avoid rate shock for CARE customers." (Second Amended Scoping Memo, R.12-06-013, January 24, 2014, pp. 2-3).

I. On January 28, 2014, PG&E served its Revised Prepared Testimony in response to the guidance provided at the January 8, 2014, prehearing conference and in the January 24, 2014, Second Amended Scoping Memo.

J. Between the November 22, 2013, filing of PG&E's rate change proposal, and the date of this Settlement, the Settling Parties have engaged in good faith and detailed settlement discussions and negotiations with the objective of reaching a consensus on a PG&E Summer, 2014 rate change proposal that the Settling Parties could support as fair and reasonable and that the Commission could approve as consistent with its guidance for implementation of rate changes by the summer of 2014.

K. On February 25, pursuant to the request of the Settling Parties and Southern California Edison Company, the Administrative Law Judges modified the schedule in this proceeding to defer intervenor testimony from February 28, 2014 to March 5, 2014 and to accommodate potential settlements that might be filed in this proceeding by March 5, 2014.

L. This Settlement is the result of the Settling Parties' discussions and negotiations.

5

#### **IV. SPECIFIC TERMS**

#### A. Baseline Quantities

PG&E's baseline quantities will be based on fifty-two and one-half (52.5) percent of historical average usage levels, unless and until the Commission revises PG&E's baseline quantities in a future proceeding.<sup>2/</sup>

#### **B.** All Electric Customers

For All-Electric customers in winter, baseline quantities will be based on sixty-two and one-half (62.5) percent of historical usage.

#### C. Historical Usage Data

The specific baseline quantity values will be based upon the historical usage data by climate zone for the May 2008 through April 2012 period, as described in Appendix A to this Settlement.

#### D. Residential Electric Rates

#### 1. Term

PG&E's residential electric rates shall be as shown in this section (in dollars per kWh) until and unless revised or modified by a CPUC decision on the merits of PG&E's proposed residential electric rates in Phase 1 of R.12-06-013.

#### 2. Non-CARE Rates

(a) PG&E's Non-CARE Tier 1 rate shall be \$0.14707.

(b) So long as it does not result in the non-CARE tier 4 rate exceeding

\$0.35000, PG&E's Non-CARE Tier 2, 3 and 4 rates shall be calculated as follows:

(i) PG&E's Non-CARE Tier 2 rate shall be \$0.17028.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>/ PG&E's 2012 Rate Design Window proceeding, A.12-02-020, does not constitute such a future proceeding, and upon CPUC approval of this Settlement, the Settling Parties agree to mutually request that the issue of baseline quantities be removed from A.12-02-020.

(ii) PG&E's Non-CARE Tier 3 and 4 rates shall be set to collect

**the residual revenue requirement**, such that the resulting difference between the Tier 3 and 4 rates is \$0.06000.

(iii) However, if the Non-CARE Tier 4 rate resulting under

subsections (b)(i) and (b)(ii) **exceeds \$0.35000 per kWh**, the incremental revenue requirement should be spread to non-CARE tier 2,3,and 4 rates on an equal cents per kWh basis in the following manner:

- (1) Start with the following rates:
  --Non-CARE Tier 1: \$0.14707
  --Non-CARE Tier 2: \$0.17028
  --Non-CARE Tier 3: \$0.29000
  --Non-CARE Tier 4: \$0.35000
- (2) Using these rates, and the CARE rates in Section 3

below, calculate the revenue shortfall relative to the authorized revenue requirement.

(3) Increase the non-CARE Tier 2, 3 and 4 rates on an

equal cents per kWh basis to eliminate the revenue shortfall.

- 3. CARE Rates
  - (a) The CARE Tier 1 rate shall be \$0.09244.
  - (b) The CARE Tier 2 rate shall be \$0.10630.
  - (c) The CARE Tier 3 rate shall be \$0.15081.
- 4. Rate Changes Between Summer 2014 and Decision on PG&E's Rate Proposal in Phase 1 of R.12-06-013

During the period between the effective date of CPUC approval of this Settlement and a CPUC decision on the merits of PG&E's rate proposal on Phase 1 of R.12-06-013, the following shall apply to each rate change:

(a) For residential electric rate changes caused by an authorized increase in PG&E's residential electric revenue requirement, all

non-CARE and CARE rates in every tier shall be increased on an equal-cent-per-kWh basis in order to collect the higher revenue requirement

- (b) However, if the equal-cent-per-kWh rate increase resulting under subsection 4(a) exceeds \$0.01500 per kWh, then the increases for the non-CARE tier 1 rate, the CARE tier 1 rate, and the CARE tier 2 rate shall be capped at \$0.01500 per kWh, and the revenue shortfall resulting from these caps shall be collected on an equal-cents-per-kWh basis from sales in non-CARE tiers 2, 3, and 4 and in CARE tier 3.
- (c) For residential electric rate changes caused by an authorized decrease in PG&E's residential revenue requirement, all non-CARE and CARE rates in every tier shall be decreased on an equal-cent-per-kWh basis in order to collect the lower revenue requirement.

(d) In implementing subsection 4(a) and (b), PG&E shall seek, to the extent feasible and consistent with timely ratemaking, to consolidate authorized revenue requirement increases with revenue requirement decreases in order to manage rate volatility and achieve rate stability. This includes the Powerex FERC refund settlement expected to be approved in 2014, the revenue requirement crediting of which PG&E shall seek to consolidate with the implementation of other 2014 expected authorized increases in residential electric revenue requirements such as PG&E's 2014 General Rate Case Phase 1 and Nuclear Decommissioning Trust revenue requirement changes.

///

|||

- ///

#### V. EXECUTION

This document may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. In witness whereof, intending to be legally bound, the Settling Parties hereto have duly executed this Settlement on behalf of the parties they represent.

The undersigned represent that they are authorized to sign on behalf of the Party represented, for the purposes of this 2014 Residential Electric Rate Reform Settlement Agreement in Phase 2 of R.12-06-013.

#### PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY

By:	<u>/s/ Christopher J. Warner</u>			
-	CHRISTOPHER J. WARNER			
Title:	Attorney			
Date:	March 5, 2014			

#### THE OFFICE OF RATEPAYER ADVOCATES

By:	/s/ Joseph P. Como
	JOSEPH P. COMO
Title:	Acting Director
Date:	March 5, 2014

#### THE UTILITY REFORM NETWORK

By:	/s/ Matthew Freedman_			
-	MATTHEW FREEDMAN			
Title:	Attorney			
Date:	March 5, 2014			

# **APPENDIX A**

# То

Settlement Agreement Among Pacific Gas and Electric Company, Office of Ratepayer Advocates, and The Utility Reform Network

#### PACIFIC GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY 2014 RESIDENTIAL TARGET BASELINE QUANTITIES BASED ON 2008-2012 USAGE (1)

	ç	SUMMER	(2)	١	WINTER	(2)	ç	SUMMER	(2)		WINTER	(2)
TERRITORY	55%	52.5%	50%	55%	52.5%	50%	55%	52.5%	50%	55%	52.5%	50%
	Daily	Daily	Daily	Daily	Daily	Daily	Daily	Daily	Daily	Daily	Daily	Daily
	E-1, I	E-6, E-7, E	E-A7, E-8 (and C		ESR, ET	(3)			<b>EM</b> (and C			
		ALL-ELEC	TRIC QU	JANTITIE	S (kWh)			ALL-ELEC	CTRIC QU	JANTITIE	S (kWh)	
P	17.6	16.4	15.5	29.7	29.6	28.3	9.7	9.1	8.6	16.0	15.4	14.7
Q	8.9	8.3	7.8	30.7	29.6	28.3	5.8	5.4	5.2	16.2	15.4	14.7
R	20.2	18.8	17.8	31.4	29.8	28.5	9.8	9.2	8.7	16.3	15.4	14.5
S	17.6	16.4	15.5	28.7	27.1	25.8	9.7	9.1	8.6	16.2	15.3	14.4
T	8.9	8.3	7.8	16.0	14.9	13.9	5.8	5.4	5.2	10.5	9.8	9.3
V	14.7	13.6	12.8	29.2	26.6	25.3	11.2	8.0	7.6	15.8	14.5	14.1
W	22.4	20.8	19.6	22.0	20.6	19.3	11.0	10.3	10.0	13.8	12.9	12.1
X	10.1	9.3	8.7	18.0	16.7	15.6	7.9	7.5	7.1	14.7	14.0	13.2
Y	14.0	13.0	12.3	28.4	27.1	25.6	8.5	8.1	7.7	19.5	18.0	16.7
Z	8.4	7.7	7.2	20.1	18.7	17.5	5.1	4.8	4.5	13.9	12.5	11.5
				TITIES (kV						TITIES (kV		
P	14.8	13.8	13.1	13.1	12.3	11.7	6.3	5.9	5.6	5.9	5.6	5.3
Q	7.5	7.0	6.7	12.9	12.3	11.7	4.2	3.9	3.8	6.0	5.6	5.3
R	16.6	15.6	14.7	11.7	11.0	10.5	7.1	6.6	6.3	5.5	5.3	5.0
S	14.8	13.8	13.1	11.8	11.2	10.6	6.3	5.9	5.6	5.5	5.1	4.9
T	7.5	7.0	6.7	9.0	8.5	8.0	4.2	3.9	3.8	5.1	4.8	4.6
V	9.3	8.7	8.3	11.2	10.6	10.0	4.6	4.3	4.1	5.6	5.2	5.0
W	18.0	16.8	15.9	10.8	10.1	9.6	7.9	7.4	7.0	5.9	5.5	5.3
X	10.8	10.1	9.6	11.5	10.9	10.3	5.8	5.4	5.2	6.6	6.2	5.9
Y	11.3	10.6	10.0	13.3	12.6	11.9	9.7	9.0	8.2	9.0	8.3	7.8
Z	6.6	6.2	5.8	9.6	9.0	8.4	5.7	5.3	4.8	6.6	5.9	5.6

(1) Data is from May 2008 through April 2012.

(2) The Summer season is May through October. The Winter season is November through April.

(3) These baseline allowances cover 98 percent of electric households in PG&E's service territory.

(4) These baseline allowances cover 2 percent of electric households in PG&E's service territory.

# Attachment B SCE Settlement

#### **BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF THE**

#### STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Order Instituting Rulemaking on the Commission's Own Motion to Conduct a Comprehensive Examination of Investor Owned Electric Utilities' Residential Rate Structures, the Transition to Time Varying and Dynamic Rates, and Other Statutory Obligations.

R.12-06-013 (Filed June 21, 2012)

# SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT FOR SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY'S PHASE 2 SIMPLIFIED SUMMER 2014 RESIDENTIAL RATE DESIGN CHANGES

Dated: March 4, 2014

### Table of Contents

## Page

1.	Parties1
2.	Definitions
3.	Recitals
4.	Agreement
5.	Implementation of Settlement Agreement
6.	Record Evidence
7.	Signature Date
8.	Regulatory Approval
9.	Compromise Of Disputed Claims
10.	Non-Precedent
11.	Previous Communications
12.	Non-Waiver
13.	Effect Of Subject Headings
14.	Governing Law
15.	Number Of Originals

#### **BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF THE**

#### STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Order Instituting Rulemaking on the Commission's Own Motion to Conduct a Comprehensive Examination of Investor Owned Electric Utilities' Residential Rate Structures, the Transition to Time Varying and Dynamic Rates, and Other Statutory Obligations.

R.12-06-013 (Filed June 21, 2012)

## <u>SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT FOR SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY'S PHASE 2</u> <u>SIMPLIFIED SUMMER 2014 RESIDENTIAL RATE DESIGN CHANGES</u>

This Settlement Agreement for Southern California Edison Company's (SCE's) Phase 2 Simplified Summer 2014 Residential Rate Design Changes (Settlement Agreement) is entered into by the undersigned Parties hereto, with reference to the following.

1. Parties

The Parties to this Settlement Agreement are Southern California Edison Company (SCE), the Office of Ratepayer Advocates (ORA), The Utility Reform Network (TURN), the Sierra Club, the Natural Resources Defense Council (NRDC), and the Coalition of California Utility Employees (CUE) (referred to hereinafter collectively as Settling Parties, or individually as Party).

- a. SCE is an investor-owned public utility and is subject to the jurisdiction of the California Public Utilities Commission (Commission or CPUC) with respect to providing electric service to its CPUC-jurisdictional retail customers.
- b. ORA is a division of the Commission that represents the interests of public utility customers.
   Its goal is to obtain the lowest possible rate for service consistent with reliable and safe service levels. Pursuant to Public Utilities Code Section 309.5(a), the ORA is directed to

primarily consider the interests of residential and small commercial customers in revenue allocation and rate design matters.

- c. TURN is an independent, non-profit consumer advocacy organization that represents the interests of residential and small commercial utility customers.
- d. Sierra Club is a non-profit public benefit organization with over 150,000 members in California supporting its mission to protect the environment and the climate. Sierra Club's priority is to reduce greenhouse gases and dependence on fossil fuels through conservation, efficiency, and the development of renewable energy.
- e. NRDC is a non-profit membership organization, representing nearly 100,000 California members with an interest in receiving affordable energy services and reducing the environmental impact of California's energy consumption.
- f. The member labor unions of CUE represent approximately 35,000 employees of most of the electric utilities in California.

#### 2. **Definitions**

When used in initial capitalization in this Settlement Agreement, whether in singular or plural, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth below or, if not set forth below, then as they are defined elsewhere in this Settlement Agreement:

- a. "ACR" means Assigned Commissioner's Ruling;
- "CARE" means California Alternate Rates for Energy program, which provides customers meeting a certain household income criteria a discount from SCE's otherwise applicable residential rates.
- c. "Energy Rates" means the volumetric rates paid by customers who are served on SCE's residential rate schedules.

- d. "FERA" means Family Electric Rate Assistance Program, which currently provides residential customers meeting certain household income and family size criteria a discount by charging Tier 2 Energy Rates for usage incurred in Tier 3.
- e. "Initial Implementation" means the date on which this Settlement Agreement is first implemented after a Commission decision approving this Settlement Agreement.
- f. "IOUs" means investor-owned utilities. As used in this Settlement Agreement, the IOUs are SCE, Pacific Gas and Electric Company and San Diego Gas and Electric Company.
- g. "kWh" means kilowatt hours.
- h. "Settlement Agreement" shall have the meaning given to such term in the introductory paragraph hereof.
- i. "Settling Parties" means SCE, ORA, TURN, Sierra Club, NRDC and CUE.

#### 3. <u>Recitals</u>

a. On June 28, 2012, the Commission issued an Order Instituting Rulemaking On The Commission's Own Motion To Conduct A Comprehensive Examination Of Investor-Owned Electric Utilities' Residential Rate Structures, The Transition To Time Varying And Dynamic Rates, And Other Statutory Obligations (Rulemaking, or "R." 12-06-013). The Rulemaking was initiated, among other reasons, "to examine current residential electric rate design, including the tier structure in effect for residential customers, the state of time variant and dynamic pricing, potential pathways from tiers to time variant and dynamic pricing, and preferable residential rate design to be implemented when statutory restrictions are lifted."<sup>1</sup>

R.12-06-013, p. 2. The "statutory restrictions" to which the Rulemaking referred are described in detail on pages 6-8 of the testimony in support of SCE's Phase 2 Interim Residential Rate Design Proposal, served on November 22, 2013 and preliminarily marked as Exhibit SCE-1 in this proceeding.

- b. From summer 2012 through summer 2013, parties to the Rulemaking submitted opening and reply comments in response to a series of policy and other questions in the initial Rulemaking; attended an initial prehearing conference; filed another round of opening and reply comments on questions posed by the Assigned Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) regarding how the Rulemaking should be coordinated with other residential rate design proceedings; filed opening comments on definitional matters in advance of an in-person workshop facilitated by the assigned ALJ and Commission staff; and filed "optimal" residential rate design proposals assuming no legislative restrictions, including opening and reply comments thereto. Informal and formal discovery has been ongoing throughout the Rulemaking.
- c. In October 2013, over one year after the Rulemaking was opened, the California Legislature passed Assembly Bill (AB) 327, which was supported by the IOUs, ORA, TURN, AARP, and the Greenlining Institute. AB 327 lifted many of the statutory restrictions that had applied to residential rates for usage up to 130% of baseline under AB 1X beginning in February 2001, and by SB 695, which became effective in January 2010.
- d. Following the passage of AB 327, an ACR was issued on October 25, 2013 inviting the IOUs to submit "interim" rate change proposals that were consistent with the Commission's authority under AB 327. The goal of the interim proposals was to "stabilize and rebalance tiered rates" through a reasonable phase-in schedule relative to rates in effect prior to January 1, 2014, and consistent with statutory requirements that differentials between tiers should be gradual, that rates not unreasonably impair incentives for conservation and energy efficiency, and that rates not overburden low-income customers.<sup>2</sup> The IOUs were instructed to file

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> October 25, 2013 ACR, p. 3.

interim proposals in a newly opened "Phase 2" of the Rulemaking, categorized as ratesetting, which was to run concurrently with Phase  $1.\frac{3}{2}$ 

- e. To comply with the October 25, 2013 ACR, SCE filed its Phase Two Supplemental Filing For Interim Residential Rate Design Changes on November 22, 2013 (November 22 Proposal), concurrently with the service of supporting testimony in an Exhibit marked SCE-01. The November 22 Proposal requested authorization to implement a three-tiered default residential rate structure with tier rate differentials relative to the baseline (Tier 1) Energy Rate of 1.3 and 1.6 to 1.0 for Tiers 2 and 3, respectively. Several parties filed protests to the November 22 Proposal and SCE filed a reply.
- f. SCE provided notice to customers via bill insert, electronic access to the insert, and by publication of its November 22, 2013 Phase 2 proposal.
- g. On January 24, 2014 (consistent with conclusions drawn at a prehearing conference held January 8, 2014), a Second Amended Scoping Memo and Ruling Of Assigned Commissioner and Assigned Administrative Law Judge (Second Amended Scoping Memo) was issued, in which the IOUs were instructed to serve "simplified" interim residential rate design proposals to supplement the testimony filed on November 22, 2013. The stated reason for instructing the IOUs to re-serve simplified proposals was "in order [for the Commission] to fairly evaluate the IOU rate change proposals in time to implement new residential rates in 2014."<sup>4</sup> The Second Amended Scoping Memo stated that the simplified proposals "should be limited to increases in the lower tiers commensurate with projected increases in the overall revenue requirement allocated to the residential class, plus no more than a few percentage

<sup>3</sup> See Amended Scoping Memo and Ruling Of Assigned Commissioner, dated January 6, 2014. Phase 1, designed to address the years 2015-2018, was also categorized as ratesetting, but the longer-term issues to be decided in Phase 1 are beyond the scope of this Settlement Agreement.

<sup>4</sup> Second Amended Scoping Memo, p. 2.

points, if necessary, to keep the upper tiers within a range that will avoid the potential for significant bill volatility and rate shock in the summer."<sup>5</sup>

- h. To comply with these directives and guidelines, on January 28, 2014, SCE served its Simplified Residential Rate Design Proposal (Simplified Proposal), as described in an exhibit preliminarily marked SCE-04.
- On February 28, 2014, SCE provided notice to all parties of its intent to formally hold a settlement conference, and an initial settlement conference pursuant to Article 12 of the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure was held telephonically on February 21, 2014.
- j. The Settling Parties have evaluated the various issues in Phase 2 of the Rulemaking, desire to resolve all Phase 2-related issues involving SCE's residential non-CARE and CARE default rates, and have reached an agreement that resolves all disputed Phase 2-related issues involving SCE's residential non-CARE and CARE default rates as indicated in Paragraph 4 of this Settlement Agreement.

#### 4. <u>Agreement</u>

In consideration of the mutual obligations, covenants and conditions contained herein, the Settling Parties agree to the terms of this Settlement Agreement. Nothing in this Settlement Agreement shall be deemed to constitute an admission by any Party that its position on any issue lacks merit or that its position has greater or lesser merit than the position taken by any other Party. This Settlement Agreement is subject to the express limitation on precedent described in Section 10.

a. Establishing Rate Levels for non-CARE Tiers 1, 2, 3 and 4 (Schedule D)
 At the time of Initial Implementation, the non-CARE Tier 1 Energy Rate for Schedule D
 shall be fixed at 14.85 cents per kilowatt-hour (kWh), and the non-CARE Tier 2 Energy Rate

<sup>&</sup>lt;u>5</u> *Id.*, pp. 2-3.

shall be fixed at 19.28 cents per kWh. The Energy Rates for non-CARE Tiers 3 and 4 shall be set residually to collect (along with revenues collected from CARE rates established as described in Paragraph 4.b.) the then-current authorized residential rate class revenue requirement such that the rate differential between Tiers 3 and 4 shall be 4 cents per kWh.

#### b. Establishment of CARE Rates (Schedule D-CARE)

Rates for CARE Tiers 1 and 2 shall be set at a discount of 35% off of the Energy Rates for non-CARE Tiers 1 and 2, respectively. The CARE Tier 3 Energy Rate will be set residually such that the average effective CARE discount shall equal 32.5%.<sup>6</sup>

c. Treatment of Revenue Requirement Changes Subsequent To Initial Implementation

For residential rate changes occurring between the date of Initial Implementation and the date on which a subsequent Commission decision is implemented that modifies this Settlement Agreement, SCE shall set rates as follows:

- (i) The non-CARE Energy Rates shall change by the same percentage that the residential rate class revenue requirement changes (whether that is a percentage increase or decrease), *except that*, should the residential rate class revenue requirement <u>decrease</u> on January 1, 2015 relative to the residential rate class revenue requirement on December 31, 2014: (a) the then-current non-CARE Tier 1 and 2 Energy Rates shall not change; and (b) the Energy Rates for non-CARE Tiers 3 and 4 shall be set residually to collect (along with revenues collected from CARE rates established as described in Paragraph 4.b.) the then-current authorized residential rate class revenue requirement such that the rate differential between Tiers 3 and 4 shall be at least 4 cents<sup>2</sup> per kWh.
- (ii) Energy Rates for Schedule D-CARE shall be established in accordance with Paragraph 4.b.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> For purposes of this Settlement Agreement only, in establishing the 32.5% average effective CARE discount, the Settling Parties agree to exclude the revenue effect of the return of the California Climate Credit to residential customers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> In determining what the "at least 4 cent" differential should be, SCE shall consult in good faith with the Settling Parties before filing a Tier 1 Advice Letter implementing changes consistent with this provision of the Settlement Agreement.

#### d. No Modifications To Current Tariff Schedule Components

This Settlement Agreement makes no changes to the levels of the non-CARE or CARE Basic Charges, Minimum Charges or number of tiers, nor does it make changes to the FERA program, the medical baseline-related tariffs, the baseline percentage for Tier 1 usage (currently set at 53%), or the definition of the usage amounts in each tier.

#### e. Term of Agreement

This Settlement Agreement, including the methods of establishing Energy Rates and allocation of authorized residential rate class revenues described in this Settlement Agreement, shall remain in effect unless modified by a subsequent Commission decision.

#### 5. Implementation of Settlement Agreement

It is the intent of the Settling Parties that SCE should be authorized to file a Tier 1 Advice Letter implementing tariffs containing the rate changes resulting from this Settlement Agreement as soon as practicable following the issuance of a final Commission decision approving this Settlement Agreement.

#### 6. **<u>Record Evidence</u>**

The Settling Parties recommend that the testimony in support of both the November 22 Proposal (Exhibit SCE-01) and the Simplified Proposal (Exhibit SCE-04) be admitted as part of the evidentiary record of this proceeding. The protests of the November 22 Proposal<sup>8</sup> filed by TURN, ORA, the Sierra Club and NRDC were filed with the Docket Office and are already part of the record.

#### 7. Signature Date

This Settlement Agreement shall become binding as of the last signature date of the Settling Parties.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The Second Amended Scoping Memo did not provide for the filing of protests to the Simplified Proposals.

#### 8. <u>Regulatory Approval</u>

The Settling Parties, by signing this Settlement Agreement, acknowledge that they pledge support for Commission approval and subsequent implementation of all the provisions of this Settlement Agreement. The Settling Parties shall use their best efforts to obtain Commission approval of this Settlement Agreement no later than June 12, 2014. The Settling Parties shall jointly request that the Commission approve the Settlement Agreement without change, and find this Settlement Agreement to be reasonable, consistent with law and in the public interest.

#### 9. <u>Compromise Of Disputed Claims</u>

This Settlement Agreement represents a compromise of disputed claims between the Settling Parties. The Settling Parties have reached this Settlement Agreement after taking into account the possibility that each Party may or may not prevail on any given issue. The Settling Parties assert that this Settlement Agreement is reasonable, consistent with law and in the public interest.

#### 10. Non-Precedent

Consistent with Rule 12.5 of the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure, this Settlement Agreement is not precedential in any other pending or future proceeding before this Commission, except as expressly provided in this Settlement Agreement or unless the Commission expressly provides otherwise. The Settling Parties expressly recognize that each Party may advocate a position that is inconsistent with this Agreement for rate changes occurring on or after January 1, 2015 in Phase 1 of R.12-06-013, or in Phase 2 of SCE's 2015 General Rate Case. Until the Commission issues a decision modifying the terms of this Agreement, the Settling Parties will support the continued applicability of Section 4 to govern any rate changes.

#### 11. Previous Communications

The Settlement Agreement contains the entire agreement and understanding between the Settling Parties as to the resolution of Phase 2 issues in the Rulemaking. In the event there is any conflict

-9-

between the terms and scope of this Settlement Agreement and the terms and scope of the accompanying joint motion in support of the Settlement Agreement, the Settlement Agreement shall govern.

#### 12. Non-Waiver

None of the provisions of this Settlement Agreement shall be considered waived by any Party unless such waiver is given in writing. The failure of a Party to insist in any one or more instances upon strict performance of any of the provisions of this Settlement Agreement or to take advantage of any of their rights hereunder shall not be construed as a waiver of any such provisions or the relinquishment of any such rights for the future, but the same shall continue and remain in full force and effect.

#### 13. Effect Of Subject Headings

Subject headings in this Settlement Agreement are inserted for convenience only, and shall not be construed as interpretations of the text.

#### 14. Governing Law

This Settlement Agreement shall be interpreted, governed and construed under the laws of the State of California, including Commission decisions, orders and rulings, as if executed and to be performed wholly within the State of California.

#### 15. Number Of Originals

This Settlement Agreement is executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original. The undersigned represent that they are authorized to sign on behalf of the Party represented.

# SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY /s/ Megan Scott-Kakures By: Megan Scott-Kakures 27 February, 2014 Title: Vice President, Regulatory Operations THE OFFICE OF RATEPAYER ADVOCATES /s/ Joseph P. Como By: Joseph P. Como 27 February, 2014 Title: Acting Director THE UTILITY REFORM NETWORK /s/ Matthew Freedman Matthew Freedman By: 27 February, 2014 Title: Staff Attorney THE NATURAL RESOURCES DEFENSE COUNCIL /s/ Sheryl Carter By: Sheryl Carter Title: Co-Director, Energy Program 28 February, 2014 THE SIERRA CLUB /s/ Andy Katz By: Andy Katz 3 March, 2014 Title: Attorney

#### COALITION OF CALIFORNIA UTILITY EMPLOYEES

/s/ Jamie L. Mauldin By: Jamie L. Mauldin

27 February, 2014

Title: Attorney

# Attachment C SDG&E Settlement

#### **BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA**

Order Instituting Rulemaking on the Commission's Own Motion to Conduct a Comprehensive Examination of Investor Owned Electric Utilities' Residential Rate Structures, the Transition to Time Varying and Dynamic Rates, and Other Statutory Obligations.

Rulemaking 12-06-013 (Filed June 21, 2012)

#### SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT FOR PHASE 2 INTERIM RESIDENTIAL RATE DESIGN CHANGES FOR SAN DIEGO GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY

Thomas R. Brill Attorney for: SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY 8330 Century Park Ct. San Diego, CA 92123-1530 Telephone: (858) 654-1601 Facsimile: (858) 654-1586 E-mail: <u>TBrill@semprautilities.com</u>

Dated: March 27, 2014

### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

I.	PARTIES1						
II.	RECITALS						
III.	AGREEMENT						
	A. Term and Applicability7						
	B. Treatment of Revenue Requirement Changes Post-February 1, 20147						
	C. Office of Ratepayer Advocates ("ORA") Protest of SDG&E Advice Letter 2575-E						
	D. No Modifications to Current Tariff Schedule Components						
	E. Implementation of Settlement Agreement 10						
IV.	IMPLEMENTATION OF SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT 10						
V.	RECORD EVIDENCE						
VI.	SIGNATURE DATE 10						
VII.	REGULATORY APPROVAL 10						
VIII.	COMPROMISE OF DISPUTED CLAIMS 11						
IX.	NON-PRECEDENT11						
X.	PREVIOUS COMMUNICATIONS 11						
XI.	NON-WAIVER 12						
XII.	EFFECT OF SUBJECT HEADINGS12						
XIII.	GOVERNING LAW						
XIV.	NUMBER OF ORIGINALS 12						

#### **BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA**

Order Instituting Rulemaking on the Commission's Own Motion to Conduct a Comprehensive Examination of Investor Owned Electric Utilities' Residential Rate Structures, the Transition to Time Varying and Dynamic Rates, and Other Statutory Obligations.

Rulemaking 12-06-013 (Filed June 21, 2012)

#### SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT FOR PHASE 2 INTERIM RESIDENTIAL RATE DESIGN CHANGES FOR SAN DIEGO GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY

This Settlement Agreement for Phase 2 Interim Residential Rate Design Changes (Settlement Agreement) for San Diego Gas & Electric Company ("SDG&E") is entered into by the undersigned Parties hereto, with reference to the following.

#### I. PARTIES

The Parties to this Settlement Agreement are SDG&E, the Office of Ratepayer Advocates

("ORA"), The Utility Reform Network ("TURN"), the Utility Consumers' Action Network

("UCAN") the San Diego Consumers' Action Network ("SDCAN"); and the Coalition of

California Utility Employees ("CUE").

a. ORA is a division of the Commission that represents the interests of public utility customers. Its goal is to obtain the lowest possible rate for service consistent with reliable and safe service levels. Pursuant to Public Utilities Code Section 309.5(a), the ORA is directed to primarily consider the interests of residential and small commercial customers in revenue allocation and rate design matters.

b. TURN is an independent, non-profit consumer advocacy organization that represents the interests of residential and small commercial utility customers.

1

c. UCAN is an independent, non-profit consumer advocacy organization that represents the interests of residential and small commercial utility customers.

d. SDCAN an independent, non-profit consumer advocacy organization that represents the interests of residential and small commercial utility customers.

e. CUE is a coalition of labor unions and represents approximately 35,000 employees of most of the electric utilities in California. DEFINITIONS

When used in initial capitalization in this Settlement Agreement, whether in singular or plural, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth below or, if not set forth below, then as they are defined elsewhere in this Settlement Agreement:

a. "ACR" means Assigned Commissioner's Ruling;

b. "CARE" means California Alternate Rates for Energy program, which provides customers meeting a certain household income criteria a discount from SDG&E's otherwise applicable residential rates.

c. "Energy Rates" means the volumetric rates paid by customers who are served on SDG&E's residential rate schedules.

d. "FERA" means Family Electric Rate Assistance Program, which currently provides residential customers meeting certain household income and family size criteria a discount by charging Tier 2 Energy Rates for usage incurred in Tier 3.e. "IOUs" means investor-owned utilities. As used in this Settlement Agreement, the IOUs are Southern California Edison Company, Pacific Gas and Electric Company and SDG&E.

f. "kWh" means kilowatt hours.

g. The terms "Tier 1," Tier 2", Tier 3" and "Tier 4," as used herein, are defined as follows

2

- Tier 1: usage up to 100% of baseline
- Tier 2: usage between 100% up to 130% of baseline
- Tier 3: usage between 130% up to 200% of baseline
- Tier 4: usage above 200% of baseline.

h. "Settlement Agreement" shall have the meaning given to such term in the introductory paragraph hereof.

i. "Settling Parties" means SDG&E, ORA, TURN, UCAN, SDCAN and CUE.

#### II. RECITALS

a. On June 28, 2012, the Commission issued an Order Instituting Rulemaking on the Commission's Own Motion To Conduct A Comprehensive Examination Of Investor-Owned Electric Utilities' Residential Rate Structures, The Transition to Time Varying and Dynamic Rates, and Other Statutory Obligations (Rulemaking, or "R." 12-06-013). The Rulemaking was initiated, among other reasons, "to examine current residential electric rate design, including the tier structure in effect for residential customers, the state of time variant and dynamic pricing, potential pathways from tiers to time variant and dynamic pricing, and preferable residential rate design to be implemented when statutory restrictions are lifted."<sup>1</sup>

b. From summer 2012 through summer 2013, parties to the Rulemaking submitted opening and reply comments in response to a series of policy and other questions in the initial Rulemaking; attended an initial prehearing conference; filed another round of opening and reply comments on questions posed by the Assigned Administrative Law Judge ("ALJ") regarding how the Rulemaking should be coordinated with other residential rate design proceedings; filed opening comments on definitional matters in advance of an in-person workshop facilitated by the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> R.12-06-013, p. 2.

assigned ALJ and Commission staff; and filed "optimal" residential rate design proposals assuming no legislative restrictions, including opening and reply comments thereto. Informal and formal discovery has been ongoing throughout the Rulemaking.

c. In October 2013, over one year after the Rulemaking was initiated, the California Legislature passed Assembly Bill (AB) 327, which was supported by the IOUs, ORA, TURN, American Association of Retired Persons ("AARP"), and the Greenlining Institute. Among other things, AB 327 lifted many of the statutory restrictions that had applied to residential rates for usage up to 130% of baseline under AB 1X beginning in February 2001, and by Senate Bill ("SB") 695, which became effective in January 2010.

d. Following the passage of AB 327, an ACR was issued on October 25, 2013 inviting the IOUs to submit "interim" rate change proposals that were consistent with the Commission's authority under AB 327. The goal of the interim proposals was to "stabilize and rebalance tiered rates" through a reasonable phase-in schedule relative to rates in effect prior to January 1, 2014, and consistent with statutory requirements that differentials between tiers should be gradual, that rates not unreasonably impair incentives for conservation and energy efficiency, and that rates not overburden low-income customers.<sup>2</sup> The IOUs were instructed to file interim proposals in a newly opened "Phase 2" of the Rulemaking, which was categorized as ratesetting, and was to run concurrently with Phase 1.<sup>3</sup>

e. To comply with the October 25, 2013 ACR, SDG&E filed its Phase 2 Supplemental Filing For Interim Residential Rate Design Changes on November 22, 2013 ("November 22 Proposal"), concurrently with the service of supporting testimony. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> October 25, 2013 ACR, p. 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See Amended Scoping Memo and Ruling Of Assigned Commissioner, dated January 6, 2014. Phase 1, designed to address the years 2015-2018, was also categorized as ratesetting, but the longer-term issues to be decided in Phase 1 are beyond the scope of this Settlement Agreement.

November 22 Proposal requested authorization to: increase lower tier rates; increase Tier 1 rates to Tier 2 levels; consolidate Tiers 3 and 4<sup>4</sup>; move California Alternate Rates for Energy ("CARE") subsidies from rates to a line item on the bill for residential and non-residential CARE customers; implement a transition path to bring the effective CARE discount within 30-35% for residential and non-residential CARE customers; and adopt a four year transition for rates applicable to non-CARE medical baseline customers. Several parties filed protests to the November 22 Proposal and SDG&E filed a reply.

f. SDG&E provided notice to customers via bill insert, electronic access to the insert, and by publication of its November 22, 2013 Phase 2 proposal.

g. On January 24, 2014 (consistent with conclusions drawn at a prehearing conference held January 8, 2014), a Second Amended Scoping Memo and Ruling Of Assigned Commissioner and Assigned Administrative Law Judge ("Second Amended Scoping Memo") was issued, in which the IOUs were instructed to serve "simplified" interim residential rate design proposals to supplement the testimony filed on November 22, 2013. The stated reason for instructing the IOUs to re-serve simplified proposals was "in order [for the Commission] to fairly evaluate the IOU rate change proposals in time to implement new residential rates in 2014."<sup>5</sup> The Second Amended Scoping Memo stated that the simplified proposals "should be limited to increases in the lower tiers commensurate with projected increases in the overall revenue requirement allocated to the residential class, plus no more than a few percentage points, if necessary, to keep the upper tiers within a range that will avoid the potential for significant bill volatility and rate shock in the summer."5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In the event SDG&E does not receive approval for the consolidation of Tiers 3 and 4 in its pending Test Year 2012 General Rate Case Phase 2 Application ("A.") 11-10-002, originally filed on October 3, 2011 ("2012 GRC P2").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Second Amended Scoping Memo, p. 2.

h. To comply with these directives and guidelines, on January 28, 2014, SDG&E served the Revised Prepared Direct Testimony of Cynthia Fang On Behalf of San Diego Gas & Electric Company, revising its Interim Residential Rate Design Proposal (Revised Proposal). Through this testimony, SDG&E proposed: to increase Tier 1 and Tier 2 rates with and at the same level as system average rate ("SAR") increases; to change CARE rates with and at the same level as SAR changes to better maintain current effective discount levels and avoid moving further from the 30-35% legislated range; to increase Tier 1 non-CARE rates by an additional 1 cent/kWh; and to reduce the differential between Tier 3 and Tier 4 non-CARE rates from 2 cents/kWh to 1 cent/kWh. On March 5, 2014, parties served intervenor testimony, raising various issues and concerns regarding SDG&E's Revised Proposal. SDG&E served rebuttal testimony on March 12, 2014 in response to intervenor testimony.

i. On March 21, 2014, SDG&E filed a Motion Seeking Leave to Notice a
Settlement Conference on less than 7 days' notice, attaching a notice of settlement conference as an appendix. On March 21, 2014, ALJ McKinney issued an order granting SDG&E's request.
On that basis, SDG&E provided notice to all parties of its intent to formally hold a settlement conference, and an initial settlement conference pursuant to Article 12 of the Commission's
Rules of Practice and Procedure was held telephonically on March 24, 2014.

j. The Settling Parties have evaluated the various issues in Phase 2 of the Rulemaking, desire to resolve all Phase 2-related issues involving SDG&E's residential non-CARE and CARE default rates, and have reached an agreement that resolves all disputed Phase 2-related issues involving SDG&E's residential non-CARE and CARE default rates as indicated in Paragraph 4 of this Settlement Agreement.

6

#### III. AGREEMENT

In consideration of the mutual obligations, covenants and conditions contained herein, the Settling Parties agree to the terms of this Settlement Agreement. Nothing in this Settlement Agreement shall be deemed to constitute an admission by any Party that its position on any issue lacks merit or that its position has greater or lesser merit than the position taken by any other Party. This Settlement Agreement is subject to the express limitation on precedent described in Section 10.

#### A. Term and Applicability

The provisions provided for herein will apply to revenue requirement adjustments to rates in effect as of February 1, 2014, until a Commission decision approving the terms of this agreement is superseded by a Commission decision in Phase 1 of R.12-06-013.

#### **B.** Treatment of Revenue Requirement Changes Post-February 1, 2014

Revenue Requirement changes post-February 1, 2014 and prior to the implementation of any changes required by a decision in Phase 1 shall be implemented pursuant to the following rules:

- Non-CARE Tier 1: Tier 1 Rates shall change at a level of residential class average rate ("RAR") plus 2%, but in no event less than 7% relative to February 1, 2014 rates. In the event that Tier 1 rates change at the floor level of 7%, the existing cents/kWh differential between Tier 1 and Tier 2 rates shall be maintained.
- Non-CARE Tier 2: Tier 2 Rates shall change at a level of RAR plus 4%, subject to the provisions applicable to the Tier 1 and Tier 2 differential in the event Tier 1 reaches the 7% floor set forth above.
- CARE Tier 1: CARE Tier 1 Rates shall change at a level of RAR plus 2%.

7

- CARE Tier 2: CARE Tier 2 Rates shall change at a level of RAR plus 2%.
- CARE Tier 3: CARE Tier 3 Rates shall change at a level of RAR plus 5%.
- Non-CARE Tier 3 and Tier 4: Tier 3 Rates shall be adjusted, after implementation of the forgoing rules for Non-CARE Tier 1 and Tier 2 Rates as well as CARE Tier 1, Tier 2 and Tier 3 Rates treatment of post February 1, 2014 revenue requirement changes, in a manner that maintains the existing 2 cent differential between Tier 3 and Tier 4 Rates.
- SDG&E will consolidate revenue requirement changes whenever feasible to reduce unnecessary rate fluctuations.
- When SDG&E files an Advice Letter to reflect revenue requirement changes, it will include data about February 1, 2014 rates, RAR and system average rate ("SAR") contrast to Feb 1, 2014 percent changes to help parties to review them more efficiently.

The Settlement agreement provides for rules regarding how tiered rates will change with changes in revenue requirements rather than setting fixed rate levels. Table 1 below provides illustrative Settlement rates under different revenue requirement scenarios.

	Current (2/1/2014)	Illustrative Settlement Rates (Full Revenue Change)	% Change from Current	Illustrative Settlement Rates (50% Revenue Change)	% Change from Current
RAR	21.1	23.3	11%	21.7	3%
Non-CARE					
Tier 1	15.4	17.3	13%	16.5	7%
Tier 2	17.8	20.4	15%	18.9	6%
Tier 3	34.9	37.7	8%	34.6	-1%
Tier 4	36.9	39.7	8%	36.6	-1%
CARE					
Tier 1	10.3	11.6	13%	10.8	5%
Tier 2	12.0	13.5	13%	12.6	5%
Tier 3	17.6	20.3	16%	19.0	8%

Table 1: Illustrative Settlement Rates under Full Revenue<sup>6</sup> and 50% Revenue<sup>7</sup> Scenarios

# C. Office of Ratepayer Advocates ("ORA") Protest of SDG&E Advice Letter 2575-E

ORA shall withdraw its protest of SDG&E Advice Letter 2575-E.

#### D. No Modifications to Current Tariff Schedule Components

Prior to the implementation of any rate changes required by of a decision in Phase 1 of R.

12-06-013, no changes shall be made to non-CARE or CARE rate structures other than those

identified above, i.e. there would be no changes to the monthly service fee, minimum charges,

number of tiers, or the structure to CARE, the FERA program, medical baseline-related

programs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Full Revenue reflects incremental impacts of (1) 2014 ERRA Forecast (A.13-09-017), (2) ERRA Trigger Application (A.13-04-017) assuming year-end 2013 balance of \$213.3 million, and (3) incremental balance of \$80 million anticipated for 2014. Also includes impacts of 2012 GRC P2 implementation of (1) change in revenue allocation, (2) change in allocation of CARE rate design subsidy, and (3) change in class definition for Schedule PA-T-1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> 50% revenue reflects incremental impacts of (1) 50% of the incremental impact of 2014 ERRA Forecast (A.13-09-017), (2) 50% of incremental impact of ERRA Trigger Application (A.13-04-017) assuming year-end 2013 balance of \$213.3 million, and (3) 50% of the incremental balance of \$80 million anticipated for 2014. Also includes impacts of 2012 GRC P2 implementation of (1) Change in revenue allocation, (2) change in allocation of CARE rate design subsidy, and (3) change in class definition for Schedule PA-T-1.

#### E. Implementation of Settlement Agreement

The undersigned Parties agree to support a Motion for Adoption of Settlement Agreement incorporating the terms set forth herein as a whole and as to each and every of its terms and conditions without modification so as to preserve the balance struck as between the interests of the Settling Parties.

#### IV. IMPLEMENTATION OF SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

It is the intent of the Settling Parties that SDG&E should be authorized to file a Tier 1 Advice Letter implementing tariffs containing the rate changes resulting from this Settlement Agreement as soon as practicable following the issuance of a final Commission decision approving this Settlement Agreement.

#### V. RECORD EVIDENCE

The Settling Parties recommend that the testimony in support of both SDG&E's November 22 Proposal and the Simplified Proposal as well as the testimony of other parties on these proposals be admitted as part of the evidentiary record of this proceeding. The protests of the November 22 Proposal filed by TURN, ORA, UCAN, and SDCAN were filed with the Docket Office and are already part of the record.

#### VI. SIGNATURE DATE

This Settlement Agreement shall become binding as of the last signature date of the Settling Parties.

#### VII. REGULATORY APPROVAL

The Settling Parties, by signing this Settlement Agreement, acknowledge that they pledge support for Commission approval and subsequent implementation of all the provisions of this Settlement Agreement. The Settling Parties shall use their best efforts to obtain Commission

10

approval of this Settlement Agreement by no later than June 12, 2014. The Settling Parties shall jointly request that the Commission approve the Settlement Agreement without change, and find this Settlement Agreement to be reasonable, consistent with law and in the public interest.

#### VIII. COMPROMISE OF DISPUTED CLAIMS

This Settlement Agreement represents a compromise of disputed claims between the Settling Parties. The Settling Parties have reached this Settlement Agreement after taking into account the possibility that each Party may or may not prevail on any given issue. The Settling Parties assert that this Settlement Agreement is reasonable, consistent with law and in the public interest.

#### IX. NON-PRECEDENT

Consistent with Rule 12.5 of the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure, this Settlement Agreement is not precedential in any other pending or future proceeding before this Commission, except as expressly provided in this Settlement Agreement or unless the Commission expressly provides otherwise. The Settling Parties expressly recognize that each Party may advocate a position that is inconsistent with this Agreement for rate changes occurring on or after January 1, 2015 in Phase 1 of R.12-06-013, or in another ratesetting proceeding. Until the Commission issues a decision modifying the terms of this Agreement, the Settling Parties will support the continued applicability of Section 4 to govern any rate changes.

#### X. PREVIOUS COMMUNICATIONS

The Settlement Agreement contains the entire agreement and understanding between the Settling Parties as to the resolution of Phase 2 issues in the Rulemaking. In the event there is any conflict between the terms and scope of this Settlement Agreement and the terms and scope of

11

the accompanying joint motion in support of the Settlement Agreement, the Settlement Agreement shall govern.

#### XI. NON-WAIVER

None of the provisions of this Settlement Agreement shall be considered waived by any Party unless such waiver is given in writing. The failure of a Party to insist in any one or more instances upon strict performance of any of the provisions of this Settlement Agreement or to take advantage of any of their rights hereunder shall not be construed as a waiver of any such provisions or the relinquishment of any such rights for the future, but the same shall continue and remain in full force and effect.

#### XII. EFFECT OF SUBJECT HEADINGS

Subject headings in this Settlement Agreement are inserted for convenience only, and shall not be construed as interpretations of the text.

#### XIII. GOVERNING LAW

This Settlement Agreement shall be interpreted, governed and construed under the laws of the State of California, including Commission decisions, orders and rulings, as if executed and to be performed wholly within the State of California.

#### XIV. NUMBER OF ORIGINALS

This Settlement Agreement is executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original. The undersigned represent that they are authorized to sign on behalf of the Party represented.

Dated: March 27, 2014	San Diego Gas & Electric Company			
	/s/ Lee Schavrien			
	By: Lee Schavrien Senior Vice President, Financial, Regulatory and Legislative Affairs			
Dated: March 27, 2014	The Office of Ratepayer Advocates			
	/s/ Joseph P. Como			
	By: Joseph P. Como Acting Director			
Dated: March 27, 2014	The Utility Reform Network			
	/s/ Matthew Freedman			
	By: Matthew Freedman Staff Attorney			
Dated: March 27, 2014	Utility Consumers' Action Network			
	/s/ Donald Kelly, Esq.			
	By: Donald Kelly, Esq Executive Director			
Dated: March 27, 2014	San Diego Consumers' Action Network			
	/s/ Michael Shames			
	By: Michael Shames Director			
Dated: March 27, 2014	Coalition of California Utility Employees			
	/s/ Jamie Mauldin			
	By: Jamie Mauldin			
	Attorney			

## Attachment D Residential Rate Changes

	Date	Description	Residential Class Average Rate (cents/kWh)**
1.	January 1, 2014	Annual Electric True-Up Filing (Resolution E-4620 and Advice 4278-E)	17.5
2.	January 1, 2014	Implementation of SB 695 authorized residential rate changes (Advice 4314-E-B). Rate changes were implemented on March 1, 2014.	17.5
3.	March 1, 2014	Transmission-related revenue requirement changes (FERC Docket # ER14-799-000, Advice Letter 4344-E in compliance with Resolution 3930; March 1 rate change Advice Letter 4370-E)	17.6
4.	May 1, 2014	Implementation of revenue requirement and rate changes pursuant to (1) Electric Rate Changes to Introduce GHG Allowance Costs and GHG Allowance Revenues (D.13-12-041 and Advice 4403-E) and (2) Transmission Revenue Balancing Account Adjustment (TRBAA approved by FERC in FERC Docket No. ER14-81-000; Advice Letter 4307-E; and May 1 rate change per Tier 1 Advice Letter 4405-E filed April 30, 2014 with effective date of May 1, 2014.)	17.6
5.	July 1, 2014 (expected)	Anticipated implementation of revenue requirement changes pursuant to (1) 2014 GRC (A.12-11-009) and (2) PowerEx Credit (subject to FERC Approval FERC Docket EL00-95, 145 FERC ¶ 61,015). Implementation would coincide with rate adjustments pursuant to the PG&E Settlement if approved.	18.9
6.	January 1, 2015 (expected)	Anticipated implementation of revenue requirement changes pursuant to 2015 ERRA Forecast	TBD

### PG&E 2014 Residential Rate Changes

\*\* Excludes Climate Credit

## R.12-06-013 ALJ/JMO/JMH/sk6/jt2 PROPOSED DECISION (Rev. 1)

### SCE 2014 Residential Rate Changes

	Date	Description	Residential Class Average Rate (RAR) (cents/kWh)**
1.	January 1, 2014	Implementation of SB 695 authorized residential rate changes and miscellaneous revenue changes (Advice Letter 2978-E-A)	17.5
2.	April 1, 2014	Implementation of GHG Program Costs and Revenues in Compliance with D.12-12-033, D.13-12-002, D.13-12-003 and D.13-12-041 (Advice Letter 3008-E)	17.2
3.	June 1, 2014 (expected)	Anticipated: Revenue requirement changes pursuant to implementation of 2014 ERRA Forecast (D.14-05-003).	18.9
4.	January 1, 2015 (expected)	Anticipated: Implementation of 2015 ERRA Forecast (expected to be filed May 2014) and SONGS Settlement (disposition TBD)	TBD

\*\* Excludes California Climate Credit

R.12-06-013 ALJ/JMO/JMH/sk6/jt2 **PROPOSED DECISION (Rev. 1)** 

	Date	Description	Residential Class Average Rate (cents/kWh)**
1.	January 1, 2014	Rates as of January 1, 2014	21.1
2.	February 1, 2014	Implementation of SB 695 authorized residential rate changes (Advice Letter 2568-E)	21.1
3.	April 1, 2014	Implementation of revenue requirement and rate changes pursuant to (1) ERRA Trigger D.14-02-022 and (2) GHG costs and revenues D.13-12-041. (Advice Letter 2587-E)	21.8
4.	May 1, 2014	Implementation of 2014 GRC Phase 2 Decision (D.14-01-002), Advice Letter 2595-E, and Tier 1 Advice Letter 2597-E filed on 4/30/14 with a 5/1/14 effective date. While there are no changes to system average rates (SAR), the changes in class allocations and the definition of customer classes changes the revenue requirements associated with each customer class.	20.6
5.	July 1, 2014 (expected)	Anticipated implementation of revenue requirement changes pursuant to 2014 ERRA Forecast (A.13-09-017). Implementation would coincide with rate adjustments pursuant to the SDG&E Settlement if approved.	22.1
6.	January 1, 2015 (expected)	Anticipated implementation of revenue requirement changes pursuant to 2015 ERRA Forecast, SONGS related adjustments, Year-end Balances	TBD

#### SDG&E 2014 Residential Rate Changes

\*\* Excludes California Climate Credit

(END OF ATTACHMENT D)

# Attachment E

Comparison of Non-CARE Rates, CARE Rates, and Effective CARE Discounts

## R.12-06-013 ALJ/JMO/JMH/sk6/jt2 PROPOSED DECISION (Rev. 1)

Non-CARE	Current Rates	Proposed Rates	ent Changes of PG8 % Change from	Settlement Rates	% Change from
	(February 2014) (cents/kWh)	(cents/kWh)	Current	(cents/kWh)	Current
PG&E	(,,	(00110)		(	
Tier 1	13.6	14.7	8%	14.7	8%
Tier 2	15.5	17.0	10%	17.6	14%
Tier 3	31.4	28.6	-9%	29.6	-6%
Tier 4	35.4	34.6	-2%	35.6	1%
SCE					
Tier 1	13.3	15.5	17%	14.9	12%
Tier 2	16.5	19.3	17%	19.3	17%
Tier 3	27.4	29.9	9%	27.9	2%
Tier 4	30.4	32.9	8%	31.9	5%
SDG&E					
Tier 1	15.4	19.1	24%	17.3	12%
Tier 2	17.8	20.8	17%	20.4	15%
Tier 3	34.9	35.4	1%	37.7	8%
Tier 4	36.9	36.4	-1%	39.7	8%

## Comparison of Non-CARE Rates

January 28, 2014 IOU Summer 2014 Residential Electric Rate Reform Proposal Phase 2 Revisions Opening Phase 2 Briefs of Settling Parties for each IOU

## R.12-06-013 ALJ/JMO/JMH/sk6/jt2 PROPOSED DECISION (Rev. 1)

CARE	Current Rates (February 2014)	Proposed Rates	% Change from Current	E: 5.9%, SCE: 8%, SE Settlement Rates	% Change from Current
	(cents/kWh)	(cents/kWh)		(cents/kWh)	
PG&E					
Tier 1	8.6	9.1	6%	9.2	7.0%
Tier 2	9.9	10.4	5%	10.6	7.1%
Tier 3	14.0	14.8	6%	15.1	7.9%
SCE					
Tier 1	8.8	10.4	18%	9.7	10%
Tier 2	11.0	12.9	17%	12.5	14%
Tier 3	20.1	20.1	0%	21.0	5%
SDG&E					
Tier 1	10.3	13.1	27%	11.6	13%
Tier 2	12.0	14.3	19%	13.5	13%
Tier 3	17.6	22.2	26%	20.3	15%
SOURCES: January 28, 2014 IOU Summer 2014 Residential Electric Rate Reform Proposal Phase 2 Revisions Opening Phase 2 Briefs of Settling Parties for each IOU					

## Comparison of CARE Rates

Effective CARE Discounts of PG&E, SCE, and SDG&E in 2013, 2014, and in Proposed Settlement*					
	End of 2013	March 2014	Settlement	Change from March 2014	
PG&E	47.7%	48.4%	46.5%	-3.9%	
SCE	30.9%	32.0%	32.5%	1.6%	
SDG&E	40.0%	39.2%	37.8%	-3.6%	
*Excluding the California Climate Dividend					
SOURCES: PG&E - 08 CARE Discount Table SCE's April 1, 2014 Response to ALJs' March 26, 2014 Request for Additional Post-Hearing Information (Phase 2) at p. 52 SDG&E - 09 Attachment D.1					

#### **Effective CARE Discounts Under the Proposed Settlements**

(END OF ATTACHMENT E)

## ATTACHMENT F SERVICE LIST

#### 

Jamie Mauldin ADAMS BROADWELL JOSEPH & CARDOZO, PC 601 GATEWAY BLVD., STE. 1000 SOUTH SAN FRANCISCO CA 94080 (650) 589-1660 jmauldin@adamsbroadwell.com For: Coalition of California Utility Employees

Nora Sheriff, Attorney ALCANTAR & KAHL EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (415) 721-4143 nes@a-klaw.com For: California Large Energy Consumers Assoc./Energy Producers Users Coalition

Len Canty Chairman BLACK ECONOMIC COUNCIL 484 LAKE PARK AVE., SUITE 338 OAKLAND CA 94610 (510) 452-1337 lencanty@BlackEconomicCouncil.org For: Black Economic Council

Scott Blaising BRAUN BLAISING MCLAUGHLIN P.C. EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (916) 682-9702 blaising@braunlegal.com For: Local Energy Aggregation Network

Margie Gardner CAL. ENERGY EFFICIENCY INDUSTRY COUNCIL EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (916) 390-6413 policy@efficiencycouncil.org For: California Energy Efficiency Industry Council

Bernadette Del Chiaro CAL. SOLAR ENERGY INDUSTRIES ASSOCIATION 1107 9TH ST., STE. 820 SACRAMENTO CA 95814 (916) 228-4567 bernadette@calseia.org For: California Solar Energy Industries Association (CALSEIA) Sachu Constantine CALIFORNIA CENTER FOR SUSTAINABLE ENERGY EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (858) 244-1177 sachu.constantine@energycenter.org For: California Center For Sustainable Energy

Karen Norene Mills Assoc. Counsel - Legal Svcs. Div. CALIFORNIA FARM BUREAU FEDERATION 2300 RIVER PLAZA DRIVE SACRAMENTO CA 95833 (916) 561-5655 kmills@cfbf.com For: California Farm Bureau Federation

Bob Dodds CALIFORNIA PACIFIC ELECTRIC COMPANY 933 ELOISE AVENUE SOUTH LAKE TAHOE CA 96150 (530) 541-5780 Bob.Dodds@liberty-energy.com For: California Pacific Electric Company, LLC

Melissa W. Kasnitz CENTER FOR ACCESSIBLE TECHNOLOGY 3075 ADELINE STREET, SUITE 220 BERKELEY CA 94703 (510) 841-3224 X2019 service@cforat.org For: Center for Accessible Technology

Cathy Zhang Executive Director CHINESE AM. INSTITUTE FOR EMPOWERMENT 15 SOUTHGATE AVE., STE. 200 DALY CITY CA 94015 (650) 952-0522 cathy.zhang@soundofhope.org For: Chinese American Institute for Empowerment (jt. party)

Eric Eisenhammer COALITION OF ENERGY USERS 4010 FOOTHILLS BLVD., STE 103 NO. 115 ROSEVILLE CA 95747 (916) 833-9276 Eric@CoalitionofEnergyUsers.org For: Coalition of Energy Users

Donald P. Hilla CONSUMER FEDERATION OF CALIFORNIA EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 dhilla@consumercal.org For: Consumer Federation of California

Vidhya Prabhakaran DAVIS WRIGHT & TREMAINE LLP 505 MONTGOMERY STREET, SUITE 800 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111 (415) 276-6568 VidhyaPrabhakaran@dwt.com For: California Pacific Electric Company, LLC

Brad Bordine DISTRIBUTED ENERGY CONSUMER ADVOCATES 516 WHITEWOOD DRIVE SAN RAFAEL CA 94903 (213) 784-2507 b.bordine@d-e-c-a.org For: Distributed Energy Consumer Advocates

Daniel W. Douglass Attorney DOUGLASS & LIDDELL 21700 OXNARD ST., STE. 1030 WOODLAND HILLS CA 91367 (818) 961-3001 douglass@energyattorney.com For: Western Power Trading Forum/Alliance for Retail Energy Markets/Direct Accesss Custoner Coalition

Mark E. Whitlock, Jr. Pastor - Chairman ECUMENICAL CTR. FOR BLACK CHURCH STUDIES 46 MAXWELL ST IRVINE CA 92618 (949) 955-0014 markw@corchurch.org For: Ecumenical Center for Black Church Studies (jt. party)

Chris Cone, Policy Manager EFFICIENCY FIRST CALIFORNIA 1000 BROADWAY, STE. 435 OAKLAND CA 94607 (510) 899-9773 chris@efficiencyfirstca.org For: Efficiency First California Chase Kappel ELLISON SCHNEIDER & HARRIS, LLP 2600 CAPITOL AVE., SUITE 400 SACRAMENTO CA 95816 (916) 447-2166 cbk@eslawfirm.com For: The Vote Solar Initiative

Ronald Liebert Attorney At Law ELLISON, SCHNEIDER & HARRIS 2600 CAPITOL AVENUE, SUITE 400 SACRAMENTO CA 95816 (916) 447-2166 RL@ESLAWFIRM.COM For: California Manufacturers & Technology Assn

Jamie Fine Sr. Economist ENVIRONMENTAL DEFENSE FUND 123 MISSION ST., 28TH FLOOR SAN FRANCISCO CA 94105 (415) 293-6060 jfine@edf.org For: Environmental Defense Fund

Nguyen Quan, Mgr - Regulatory Affairs GOLDEN STATE WATER CO. - ELECTRIC OP. 630 EAST FOOTHILL BOULEVARD SAN DIMAS CA 91773 (909) 394-3600 X664 nguyen.quan@gswater.com For: Golden State Water Company

Brian T. Cragg, Attorney GOODIN, MACBRIDE, SQUERI, DAY & LAMPREY 505 SANSOME STREET, SUITE 900 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111 (415) 392-7900 BCragg@GoodinMacbride.com For: Independent Energy Producers Association

Jeanne Armstrong, Attorney At Law GOODIN, MACBRIDE, SQUERI, DAY & LAMPREY 505 SANSOME STREET, SUITE 900 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111 (415) 392-7900 jarmstrong@goodinmacbride.com For: Solar Energy Industries Association

Gregory Heiden Legal Division RM. 5039 505 Van Ness Avenue San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 355-5539 gxh@cpuc.ca.gov For: ORA

Jason B. Keyes, Counsel KEYES FOX & WEIDMAN LLP 436 14TH STREET, STE. 1305 OAKLAND CA 94612 (510) 314-8203 jkeyes@kfwlaw.com For: Interstate Renewable Energy Council, Inc.

David Wooley, Of Counsel KEYES FOX & WEIDMAN, LLP 436 14TH STREET, STE. 1305 OAKLAND CA 94612 (510) 314-8207 dwooley@kfwlaw.com For: SolarCity Corporation

Tim Lindl, Counsel KEYES FOX & WIEDMAN LLP 436 14TH STREET, STE. 1305 OAKLAND CA 94612 (510) 314-8385 TLindl@kfwlaw.com For: The Alliance for Solar Choice

Kevin T. Fox KEYES FOX & WIEDMAN, LLP 436 14TH STREET, SUITE 1305 OAKLAND CA 94612 (510) 314-8201 kfox@kfwlaw.com For: Sunrun, Inc.

Chairman / President LAT. BUS. CHAMBER OF GREATER L.A. 634 S. SPRING STREET, STE 600 LOS ANGELES CA 90014 (213) 347-0008 info@lbcgla.com For: Latino Business Chamber of Greater Los Angeles Andy Katz LAW OFFICES OF ANDY KATZ 2150 ALLSTON WAY , STE. 400 BERKELEY CA 94704 (510) 848-5001 andykatz@sonic.net For: Sierra Club

Elizabeth Kelly Legal Director MARIN CLEAN ENERGY EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (415) 464-6022 Ekelly@mceCleanEnergy.org For: Marin Energy Authority

Sara Steck Myers Attorney At Law 122 28TH AVENUE SAN FRANCISCO CA 94121 (415) 387-1904 ssmyers@att.net For: Center for Energy Efficiency and Renewable Technology

Faith Bautista President NATIONAL ASIAN AMERICAN COALITION 15 SOUTHGATE AVE, STE. 200 DALY CITY CA 94015 (650) 953-0522 Faith.MabuhayAlliance@gmail.com For: National Asian American Coalition

Sheryl Carter NATURAL RESOURCES DEFENSE COUNCIL 111 SUTTTER ST., 20TH FLR. SAN FRANCISCO CA 94104-4540 (415) 875-6117 scarter@nrdc.org For: Natural Resources Defense Council

Brian Cherry PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY PO BOX 770000, B10C SAN FRANCISCO CA 94177 (415) 973-4977 bkc7@pge.com For: PG&E

Sarah Wallace Senior Attorney PACIFICORP 825 NE MULTNOMAH, STE. 1800 PORTLAND OR 97232 (503) 813-5865 sarah.wallace@pacificorp.com For: PacifiCorp

Michael Shames SAN DIEGO CONSUMERS' ACTION NETWORK 6975 CAMINO AMERO SAN DIEGO CA 92111 (619) 393-2224 michael@sandiegocan.org For: San Diego Consumers' Action Network

Thomas R. Brill Sr Counsel & Director SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY 8330 CENTURTY PARK CT., CP32E SAN DIEGO CA 92123-1530 (858) 654-1601 TBrill@SempraUtilities.com For: San Diego Gas & Electric Company (SDG&E)

Steve Rahon Dir., Tariff & Regulatory Accts SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY (902) 8330 CENTURY PARK COURT, CP32C SAN DIEGO CA 92123-1548 (858) 654-1773 SRahon@SempraUtilities.com For: SDG&E

Tim Mcrae SILICON VALLEY LEADERSHIP GROUP 2001 GATEWAY PLACE, STE. 101 E SAN JOSE CA 95110 (408) 501-7864 TMcRae@svlg.org For: Silicon Valley Leadership Group

Fadia Khoury SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 fadia.khoury@sce.com For: Southern California Edison Company Enrique Gallardo THE GREENLINING INSTITUTE EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (510) 926-4017 enriqueg@greenlining.org For: The Greenlining Institute

Hayley Goodson Staff Attorney THE UTILITY REFORM NETWORK 785 MARKET ST., STE. 1400 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94103 (415) 929-8876 hayley@turn.org For: TURN

Laura Wisland Senior Energy Analyst UNION OF CONCERNED SCIENTISTS 2397 SHATTUCK AVE., STE. 203 BERKELEY CA 94704 (510) 809-1565 Iwisland@ucsusa.org For: Union of Concerned Scientists

Donald Kelly Exe. Dir. UTILITY CONSUMERS' ACTION NETWORK 3405 KENYON STREET, SUITE 401 SAN DIEGO CA 92110 (619) 696-6966 don@ucan.org For: Utility Consumers' Action Network (UCAN)

#### \*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\* STATE EMPLOYEE \*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*

Amy C. Baker Executive Division RM. 5210 505 Van Ness Avenue San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-1691 ab1@cpuc.ca.gov

Nathan Barcic Energy Division 505 Van Ness Avenue San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-2357 nb1@cpuc.ca.gov

Robert Benjamin Energy Division AREA 4-A 505 Van Ness Avenue San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-2494 bkb@cpuc.ca.gov

Lynn Marshall CALIFORNIA ENERGY COMMISSION 1516 9TH STREET, MS-20 SACRAMENTO CA 95814 (916) 654-4767 Lynn.Marshall@Energy.Ca.Gov

Patrick Saxton CALIFORNIA ENERGY COMMISSION 1516 NINTH ST., MS-37 SACRAMENTO CA 95814 (916) 651-0489 patrick.saxton@energy.ca.gov

Michaela Flagg CALIFORNIA PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION ORA EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (415) 703-2256 michaela.flagg@cpuc.ca.gov

Tory Francisco CALIFORNIA PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION ENERGY DIVISION - RESIDENTIAL PROGRAMS EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (415) 703-2743 tnf@cpuc.ca.gov

Zaida C. Amaya CALIFORNIA PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION ENERGY DIVISION - RESIDENTIAL PROGRAMS EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (916) 928-4702 zaida.amaya@cpuc.ca.gov

Paul S. Phillips CPUC ENERGY DIV EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (415) 703-1786 Paul.Phillips@cpuc.ca.gov Scott Murtishaw CPUC EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (415) 703-5863 SGM@cpuc.ca.gov

Stewart Pollock CPUC EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 stewart.pollock@cpuc.ca.gov

Christopher Danforth Office of Ratepayer Advocates RM. 4209 505 Van Ness Avenue San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-1481 ctd@cpuc.ca.gov

Hazlyn Fortune Energy Division AREA 4-A 505 Van Ness Avenue San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-2317 hcf@cpuc.ca.gov

Syreeta Gibbs Energy Division AREA 4-A 505 Van Ness Avenue San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-1622 syg@cpuc.ca.gov

Julie Halligan Administrative Law Judge Division RM. 5041 505 Van Ness Avenue San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-1587 jmh@cpuc.ca.gov

Valerie Kao Office of Ratepayer Advocates RM. 4104 505 Van Ness Avenue San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-1341 vuk@cpuc.ca.gov

Dexter E. Khoury Office of Ratepayer Advocates RM. 4209 505 Van Ness Avenue San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-1200 bsl@cpuc.ca.gov

Michele Kito Energy Division AREA 4-A 505 Van Ness Avenue San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-2197 mk1@cpuc.ca.gov

Robert Levin Energy Division RM. 4102 505 Van Ness Avenue San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-1862 rl4@cpuc.ca.gov

Jeanne McKinney Administrative Law Judge Division RM. 5011 505 Van Ness Avenue San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-2550 jmo@cpuc.ca.gov

Rajan Mutialu Energy Division AREA 4-A 505 Van Ness Avenue San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-2039 rm3@cpuc.ca.gov

Arthur J. O'Donnell Energy Division RM. 4-A 505 Van Ness Avenue San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-1184 ao1@cpuc.ca.gov

Gabriel Petlin Energy Division AREA 4-A 505 Van Ness Avenue San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-1677 gp1@cpuc.ca.gov Junaid Rahman Energy Division RM. 4-A 505 Van Ness Avenue San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-1189 jnr@cpuc.ca.gov

Stephen C. Roscow Administrative Law Judge Division RM. 5010 505 Van Ness Avenue San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-1053 scr@cpuc.ca.gov

Devla Singh Executive Division AREA 3-B 505 Van Ness Avenue San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-5581 dsc@cpuc.ca.gov

Stephen St. Marie Executive Division RM. 5203 505 Van Ness Avenue San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-5173 sst@cpuc.ca.gov

Lee-Whei Tan Office of Ratepayer Advocates RM. 4102 505 Van Ness Avenue San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-2901 lwt@cpuc.ca.gov For: ORA

Elise Torres Office of Ratepayer Advocates 505 Van Ness Avenue, RM. 4209 San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-1567 et3@cpuc.ca.gov

Ava N. Tran Energy Division AREA 4-A 505 Van Ness Avenue San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-2887 atr@cpuc.ca.gov

Rebecca Tsai-Wei Lee Office of Ratepayer Advocates RM. 1250 770 L Street, Suite 1250 Sacramento CA 95814 (916) 327-1407 wtr@cpuc.ca.gov

Christopher R Villarreal Policy & Planning Division RM. 5119 505 Van Ness Avenue San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-1566 crv@cpuc.ca.gov

Karen Camille Watts-Zagha Office of Ratepayer Advocates RM. 4104 505 Van Ness Avenue San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-2881 kwz@cpuc.ca.gov

Dan Willis Office of Ratepayer Advocates RM. 4104 505 Van Ness Avenue San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-2384 dw1@cpuc.ca.gov

Marzia Zafar Policy & Planning Division RM. 5119 505 Van Ness Avenue San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-1997 zaf@cpuc.ca.gov

Zhen Zhang Office of Ratepayer Advocates RM. 4102 505 Van Ness Avenue San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-2624 zz1@cpuc.ca.gov

\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\* INFORMATION ONLY \*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*

Marc D. Joseph ADAMS BROADWELL JOSEPH & CARDOZO 601 GATEWAY BLVD., SUITE 1000 SOUTH SAN FRANCISCO CA 94080 (650) 589-1660 mdjoseph@adamsbroadwell.com

Evelyn Kahl ALCANTAR & KAHL EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (415) 403-5542 ek@a-klaw.com

Karen Terranova ALCANTAR & KAHL EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000-0000 (415) 403-5542 filings@a-klaw.com

Stephen M. Barrager BAKER STREET PUBLISHING, LLC 2703 BRODERICK STREET SAN FRANCISCO CA 94123 (650) 504-1578 steve@bakerstreetpublishing.com

Barbara Barkovich BARKOVICH & YAP EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (707) 937-6203 barbara@barkovichandyap.com

Cathy Yap BARKOVICH & YAP, INC. EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (510) 450-1270 Cathy@BarkovichAndYap.com

Nicole Wright BRAUN BLAISING MCLAUGHLIN & SMITH 915 L STREET, SUITE 1270 SACRAMENTO CA 95814 (916) 326-5812 nicole@braunlegal.com

Charlie Buck CALIF. CENTER FOR SUSTAINABLE ENERGY EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (858) 244-1177 charlie.buck@energycenter.org

Benjamin Airth CALIFORNIA CENTER FOR SUSTAINABLE ENERGY EMAIL ONLY EAMIL ONLY CA 00000-0000 (858) 244-1194 benjamin.airth@energycenter.org

Jack Clark CALIFORNIA CENTER FOR SUSTAINABLE ENERGY EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 jack.clark@energycenter.org

Sephra A. Ninow, J.D. Regulatory Affairs Mgr. CALIFORNIA CENTER FOR SUSTAINABLE ENERGY EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (858) 244-1177 sephra.ninow@energycenter.org

Siobhan Foley CALIFORNIA CENTER FOR SUSTAINABLE ENERGY EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000-0000 (858) 244-7292 siobhan.foley@energycenter.org

Terry Clapham CALIFORNIA CENTER FOR SUSTAINABLE ENERGY EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000-0000 (858) 244-4872 terry.clapham@energycenter.org

Timothy Treadwell CALIFORNIA CENTER FOR SUSTAINABLE ENERGY EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 timothy.treadwell@energycenter.org

CALIFORNIA ENERGY MARKETS 425 DIVISADERO ST STE 303 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94117-2242 (415) 552-1764 cem@newsdata.com

CALIFORNIA PACIFIC ELECTRIC COMPANY, LLC 933 ELOISE AVENUE SOUTH LAKE TAHOE CA 96150 (530) 546-1720 cpuc@libertyutilities.com Brad Heavner CALIFORNIA SOLAR ENERGY INDUSTRIES ASSN. EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (415) 328-2683 brad@calseia.org For: California Solar Energy Industries Association (CALSEIA)

Danielle Osborn Mills Policy Director CEERT 1100 11TH STREET, SUITE 311 SACRAMENTO CA 95814 (916) 320-7584 danielle@ceert.org

David Miller CEERT 1100 ELEVENTH ST., SUITE 311 SACRAMENTO CA 95814 (916) 442-7785 david@ceert.org

Janette Olko Electric Utility Division Manager CITY OF MORENO VALLEY 14325 FREDERICK ST., STE. 9 MORENO VALLEY CA 92552 (951) 413-3502 jeannetteo@moval.org

Curt Barry Senior Writer CLEAN ENERGY REPORT 717 K STREET, SUITE 503 SACRAMENTO CA 95814 (916) 449-6171 cbarry@iwpnews.com

Francois Carlier CODA STRATEGIES EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 carlierfrancois@yahoo.fr

Nicole Johnson Staff Attorney CONSUMER FEDERATION OF CALIFORNIA 433 NATOMA ST., STE. 200 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94103 (415) 597-5707 njohnson@consumercal.org

Patrick Jobin CREDIT SUISSE SECURITIES (USA) LLC ONE MADISON AVENUE NEW YORK NY 10010 (212) 325-0843 patrick.jobin@credit-suisse.com

Tom Beach CROSSBORDER ENERGY 2560 NINTH STREET, SUITE 213A BERKELEY CA 94710 (510) 549-6922 tomb@crossborderenergy.com

DAVIS WRIGHT & TREMAINE LLP EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 dwtcpucdockets@dwt.com

Ann Trowbridge Attorney DAY CARTER & MURPHY LLP 3620 AMERICAN RIVER DR., STE. 205 SACRAMENTO CA 95864 (916) 570-2500 X103 ATrowbridge@DayCarterMurphy.com

Dan Delurey DEMAND RESPONSE AND SMART GRID COALITION 1301 CONNECTICUT AVE., NW, STE. 350 WASHINGTON DC 20036 (202) 296-3636 dan.delurey@drsgcoalition.org For: Demand Response and Smart Grid Coalition

Nat Treadway DISTRIBUTED ENERGY FINANCIAL GROUP EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY TX 00000 (713) 729-6244 ntreadway@delfgllc.com

Donald C. Liddell DOUGLASS & LIDDELL 2928 2ND AVENUE SAN DIEGO CA 92103 (619) 993-9096 liddell@energyattorney.com Cassandra Sweet Reporter DOW JONES NEWSWIRES 201 CALIFORNIA ST. SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111 (415) 439-6468 cassandra.sweet@dowjones.com

Paul M. Pietsch Research Coordinator DRSG COALITION 1301 CONNECTICUT AVE., NW, STE. 350 WASHINGTON DC 20036 (202) 296-3636 paul.pietsch@drsgcoalition.org

Anadelia Chavarria EDISON INTERNATIONAL 2244 WALNUT GROVE AVENUE ROSEMEAD CA 91770 (626) 302-1496 anadelia.chavarria@edisonintl.com

Belinda Dela Cruz EDISON INTERNATIONAL 2244 WALNUT GROVE AVENUE ROSEMEAD CA 91770 (626) 302-3548 belinda.delacruz@edisonintl.com

Felicia Williams Senior Manager, Investor Relations EDISON INTERNATIONAL 2244 WALNUT FROVE, GO1 ROOM 445 ROSEMEAD CA 91770 (626) 302-5493 felicia.williams@edisonintl.com

Spencer Edmiston Corporate Financial Planning EDISON INTERNATIONAL 2244 WALNUT GROVE AVENUE ROSEMEAD CA 91770 (626) 302-2001 spencer.edmiston@edisonintl.com

Andrew Brown ELLISON SCHNEIDER & HARRIS LLP EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (916) 447-2166 abb@eslawfirm.com

Lynn Haug ELLISON, SCHNEIDER & HARRIS L.L.P. 2600 CAPITOL AVENUE, SUITE 400 SACRAMENTO CA 95816-5931 (916) 447-2166 Imh@eslawfirm.com

Mona Tierney-Lloyd Dir., Western Regualtory Affairs ENERNOC, INC. PO BOX 378 CAYUCOS CA 93430 (805) 995-1618 mtierney-lloyd@enernoc.com

Jennifer Weberski ENVIRONMENTAL DEFENSE FUND 49 TERRA BELLA DRIVE WALNUT CREEK CA 95814 (703) 489-2924 jleesq@yahoo.com

Lauren Navarro ENVIRONMENTAL DEFENSE FUND 1107 - 9TH ST., STE. 1070 SACRAMENTO CA 95814 (916) 492-7074 Inavarro@edf.org

Michael Panfil ENVIRONMENTAL DEFENSE FUND 257 PARK AVENUE SOUTH, FLOOR 16 NEW YORK NY 10010 (212) 616-1217 mpanfil@edf.org

Steven Moss ENVIRONMENTAL DEFENSE FUND 2325 THIRD STREET, STE. 344 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94114 1040@pacbell.net

Michael Perry FREEMAN SULLIVAN & CO. 101 MONTGOMERY ST., 15TH FLOOR SAN FRANCISCO CA 94104 (415) 777-0707 michaelperry@fscgroup.com

Michael Sullivan FREEMAN SULLIVAN & CO. 101 MONTGOMERY ST., 15TH FLOOR SAN FRANCISCO CA 94104 (415) 777-0707 michaelsullivan@fscgroup.com Sam Holmberg FREEMAN SULLIVAN & CO. 101 MONTGGOMERY ST., 15TH FLOOR SAN FRANCISCO CA 94104 (415) 777-0707 samholmberg@fscgroup.com

Robert Gnaizda Of Counsel 15 SOUTHGATE AVE., STE. 200 DALY CITY CA 94015 (650) 953-0522 robertgnaizda@gmail.com

Steven Kelly Policy Director INDEPENDENT ENERGY PRODUCERS ASSCIATION 1215 K STREET, STE. 900 SACRAMENTO CA 95814 (916) 448-9499 steven@iepa.com

Gayatri M. Schilberg JBS ENERGY, INC. 311 D STREET, SUITE A WEST SACRAMENTO CA 95605 (916) 372-0534 gayatri@jbsenergy.com

William B. Marcus Consulting Economist JBS ENERGY, INC. 311 D STREET, SUITE A WEST SACRAMENTO CA 95605 (916) 372-0534 bill@jbsenergy.com

Joseph F. Wiedman Attorney KEYES FOX & WIEDMAN LLP 436 - 14TH STREET, SUITE 1305 OAKLAND CA 94612 (510) 314-8202 jwiedman@kfwlaw.com

Thadeus B. Culley KEYES FOX & WIEDMAN LLP EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (510) 314-8205 tculley@kfwlaw.com

Erica M. Schroeder KEYES FOX & WIEDMAN, LLP 436 14TH STREET, STE. 1305 OAKLAND CA 94612 (510) 314-8206 ESchroeder@kfwlaw.com

Rachel Gold LARGE-SCALE SOLAR ASSOCIATION 2501 PORTOLA WAY SACRAMENTO CA 95818 (510) 629-1024 Rachel@largescalesolar.org

Roger Levy LEVY ASSOCIATES EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (916) 487-0227 rogerl47@aol.com

David Marcus EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000-0000 dmarcus2@sbcglobal.net

Jeremy Waen Regulatory Analyst MARIN CLEAN ENERGY EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (415) 464-6027 JWaen@mceCleanEnergy.org

Mce Regulatory MARIN CLEAN ENERGY EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 regulatory@mceCleanEnergy.org

Shalini Swaroop Regulatory Counsel MARIN CLEAN ENERGY EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (415) 464-6040 sswaroop@mceCleanEnergy.org

John W. Leslie, Esq. MCKENNA LONG & ALDRIDGE LLP EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (619) 699-2536 jleslie@McKennaLong.com Gregory Reiss MILLENNIUM MANAGEMENT LLC 666 FIFTH AVENUE, 8TH FLOOR NEW YORK NY 10103 (212) 320-1036 Gregory.Reiss@mlp.com

Jimi Netniss MODESTO IRRIGATION DISTRICT 1231 11TH STREET MODESTO CA 95354 (209) 526-7592 jimin@mid.org

Joy A. Warren Regulatory Administrator MODESTO IRRIGATION DISTRICT 1231 11TH STREET MODESTO CA 95354 (209) 526-7389 joyw@mid.org

Linda Fischer Legal Department MODESTO IRRIGATION DISTRICT 1231 11TH STREET MODESTO CA 95354 (209) 526-7388 lindaf@mid.org

MRW & ASSOCIATES, LLC EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (510) 834-1999 mrw@mrwassoc.com

Aaron J. Lewis Counsel NATIONAL ASIAN AMERICAN COALITION 15 SOUTHGATE AVE., STE. 200 DALY CITY CA 94015 (650) 952-0522 X-235 alewis@naac.org

Maria Stamas Legal Fellow, Energy Program NATURAL RESOURCES DEFENSE COUNCIL EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (415) 875-8240 mstamas@nrdc.org

Merrian Borgeson Senior Scientist NATURAL RESOURCES DEFENSE COUNCIL 111 SUTTER STREET, 20TH FLOOR SAN FRANCISCO CA 94104 (415) 875-6100 X6174 mborgeson@nrdc.org

Nancy Brockway NBROCKWAY & ASSOCIATES 10 ALLEN STREET BOSTON MA 02131 (617) 645-4018 nbrockway@aol.com

Josh Bode NEXANT EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 jbode@nexant.com

Stephen George NEXANT EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 sgeorge@mexant.com

Kerry Hattevik Director Of West Market Affairs NEXT ERA ENERGY RESOURCES LLC 829 ARLINGTON BLVD. EL CERRITO CA 94530 (510) 898-1847 kerry.hattevik@nee.com

Brian Theaker Director - Market Affairs NRG ENERGY, INC. 3161 KEN DEREK LANE PLACERVILLE CA 95667 (530) 295-3305 brian.theaker@nrgenergy.com

Sean P. Beatty Director - West Regulatory Affairs NRG WEST EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (925) 427-3483 sean.beatty@nrgenergy.com Diane I. Fellman Director, Regulatory & Gov'T Affairs NRG WEST & SOLAR EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (415) 601-2025 Diane.Fellman@nrgenergy.com

Nick Pappas OFFICE OF ASSEMBLYMAN NATHAN FLETCHER EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (916) 319-2959 Nick.Pappas@asm.ca.gov

Catherine Tarasova PACIFIC GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY 77 BEALE ST., RM. 1053, MC B10A SAN FRANCISCO CA 94105 (415) 973-5461 yxt5@pge.com

Margot Everett Senior Director PACIFIC GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY 77 BEALE ST., B10B SAN FRANCISCO CA 94105 mec3@pge.com

Steve Haertle PACIFIC GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY 77 BEALE STREET, ROOM 967, MC B9A SAN FRANCISCO CA 94120 (415) 222-5603 SRH1@pge.com

Mareijke Weidemann PACIFIC GAS & ELECTRIC COOMPANY 77 BEALE STREET, RM. 1005, MC B10B SAN FRANCISCO CA 94105 m2w8@pge.com

Amanda Phillips PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (415) 973-7033 a2ph@pge.com

Case Coordination PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (415) 973-4744 RegRelCPUCCases@pge.com

Charles R. Middlekauff PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY LAW DEPT. 77 BEALE STREET, B30A / PO BOX 7442 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94105 (415) 973-6971 CRMd@pge.com

Christopher J. Warner PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY LAW DEPT. 77 BEALE STREET, MC B30A, RM 3145 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94105 (415) 973-6695 CJW5@pge.com

Gail L. Slocum PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (415) 973-6583 glsg@pge.com

Renee C. Samson Dir. - Regulatory Rate & Proceedings PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY 77 BEALE ST., RM. 941, MC B9A SAN FRANCISCO CA 94105 (415) 973-6164 r5sz@pge.com

Trina Horner PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY 77 BEALE ST., MC B10C, RM 1065 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94105 tnhc@pge.com

Cathie Allen Regulatory Affairs Mgr. PACIFICORP 825 NE MULTNOMAH ST., STE 2000 PORTLAND OR 97232 (503) 813-5934 cathie.allen@pacificorp.com

Joelle Steward PACIFICORP EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY OR 00000 (503) 813-5542 Joelle.Steward@PacifiCorp.com Paul Chernick RESOURCE INSIGHT 5 WATER ST. ARLINGTON MA 02476 (781) 646-1505 X207 pchernick@resourceinsight.com

Sue Mara Principal RTO ADVISORS, LLC 164 SPRINGDALE WAY REDWOOD CITY CA 94062 (415) 902-4108 sue.mara@RTOadvisors.com

Chuck Manzuk Dir. - Rates & Revenue Requirements SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY 8330 CENTURY PARK CT, CP32D SAN DIEGO CA 92123-1530 (858) 654-1782 CManzuk@SempraUtilities.com

Cynthia Fang SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY 8330 CENTURY PARK COURT, CP32E SAN DIEGO CA 92123-1530 cfang@semprautilities.com

Jamie K. York Regulatory Case Admin. SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY 8330 CENTURY PARK COURT, CP32D SAN DIEGO CA 92123 (858) 654-1739 JYork@SempraUtilities.com

Parina Parikh Regulatory Affairs SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY 8330 CENTURY PARK COURT, CP32 SAND IEGO CA 92123 (858) 636-5503 pparikh@semprautilities.com

Shaibya Dalal Regulatory Analyst SAN FRANCISCO PUBLIC UTILITIES COMM. 525 GOLDEN GATE AVE., 7TH FLOOR SAN FRANCISCO CA 94102 (415) 554-1516 sdalal@sfwater.org

Central Files SDG&E/SOCALGAS 8330 CENTURY PARK COURT, CP31-E SAN DIEGO CA 92123 (858) 654-1240 CentralFiles@SempraUtilities.com

Chris King SIEMENS SMART GRID SOLUTIONS 4000 E. THIRD AVE., STE. 400 FOSTER CITY CA 94404 (650) 227-7770 X-187 chris\_king@siemens.com

Matthew Vespa Sr Attorney SIERRA CLUB 85 SECOND ST,, 2ND FL SAN FRANCISCO CA 94105 (415) 977-5753 matt.vespa@SierraClub.org

Ruth Hupart SOLAR ELECTRIC POWER ASSOCIATION 1220 19TH STREET, NW, STE. 800 WASHINGTON DC 20036 (202) 559-2032 rhupart@solarelectricpower.org

Sara Birmingham SOLAR ENERGY INDUSTRIES ASSOCIATION 3300 NE 157TH PLACE PORTLAND OR 97230 (415) 385-7240 sbirmingham@seia.org

Andy Schwartz SOLARCITY 3055 CLEARVIEW WAY SAN MATEO CA 94402 (650) 963-3879 aschwartz@solarcity.com

Daniel Chia Dir. SOLARCITY 3055 CLEARVIEW WAY SAN MATEO CA 94402 (650) 332-0452 dchia@solarcity.com Mary Hoffman SOLUTIONS FOR UTILITIES, INC. EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (760) 724-4420 maryhoffmanRE@gmail.com

Case Administration SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY 2244 WALNUT GROVE AVENUE, PO BOX 800 ROSEMEAD CA 91770 (626) 302-6906 case.admin@sce.com

Russell Garwacki SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY 2244 WALNUT GROVE AVE. ROSEMEAD CA 91770 russell.garwacki@sce.com

Melissa P. Martin Senior Regulatory Counsel STATESIDE ASSOCIATES EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY VA 00000 (703) 525-7057 X-237 mpf@stateside.com

Adam Gerza SULLIVAN SOLAR POWER 169 11TH STREET SAN FRANCISCO CA 94103 (310) 210-2392 adam@sullivansolarpower.com

Holly Gordon Vp, Legislative & Regulatory Affair SUNRUN INC. EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (415) 684-9837 holly@SunrunHome.com

Walker Wright SUNRUN INC. EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (415) 684-9980 WWright@SunrunHome.com

Walker Wright SUNRUN, INC. EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (415) 580-6980 wwright@sunrunhome.com

Edward G. Cazalet TEMIX, INC. 101 FIRST STREET LOS ALTOS HILLS CA 94022 (650) 949-5274 ed@temix.com

Anne Smart THE ALLIANCE FOR SOLR CHOICE EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (415) 580-6900 Anne@AllianceForSolarChoice.com

Ahmad Faruqui THE BRATTLE GROUP EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (415) 217-1026 ahmad.faruqui@brattle.com

Stephanie C. Chen THE GREENLINING INSTITUTE EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (510) 898-0506 stephaniec@greenlining.org

Marcel Hawiger Attorney THE UTILITY REFORM NETWORK 785 MARKET ST., STE. 1400 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94103 (415) 929-8876 X311 marcel@turn.org

Matthew Freedman THE UTILITY REFORM NETWORK EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (415) 929-8876 X304 matthew@turn.org Susannah Churchill Solar Policy Advocate THE VOTE SOLAR INITATIVE EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (415) 817-5065 susannah@votesolar.org

Rick Gilliam THE VOTE SOLAR INITIATIVE 1120 PEARL STREET BOULDER CO 80302 (303) 550-3686 rick@votesolar.org

Morgan Lee U-T SAN DIEGO 350 CAMINO DE LA REINA SAN DIEGO CA 92108 (619) 293-1251 Morgan.Lee@UTSanDiego.com

Sheridan J. Pauker WILSON SONSINI GOODRICH & ROSATI EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ON LY CA 00000 (415) 947-2136 spauker@wsgr.com

Kevin Woodruff WOODRUFF EXPERT SERVICES 1100 K STREET, SUITE 204 SACRAMENTO CA 95814 (916) 442-4877 kdw@woodruff-expert-services.com

(End of Service List) (End of Attachment F)